LIBERTY UNIVERSITY

Employee Handbook

Published by the Office of Human Resources





Human Resources Green Hall, Room 1560 1971 University Blvd Lynchburg, VA 24515 (434) 592-7330

Liberty University® is accredited by the Commission on Colleges of the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools (SACSCOC) to award associate, baccalaureate, masters, educational specialist, and doctorate degrees, as well as certificates at approved degree levels. Questions about the accreditation of Liberty University may be directed in writing to the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges at 1866 Southern Lane, Decatur, Georgia 30033-4097, by calling 404-679-4500, or by using information available on SACSCOC's website (https://www.sacscoc.org/).

This Handbook is intended as a general guideline on employment and workplace policies and procedures that Liberty University has put in place. It is not intended to set forth either express or implied contractual obligations of Liberty University Liberty University retains the right to amend, alter, or abolish any or all of these policies as circumstances warrant with or without advance notice to employees, except as required under law.

Revised on 01/09/2025.



EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK OF PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

TABLE OF CONTENTS

History of Liberty University Philosophy of Education Statement of Mission and Purpose Statement of Doctrine

Section 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction to the Employee Handbook

Section 2: EMPLOYMENT POLICIES

- 2.1 Human Resources Office
- 2.2 Equal Employment Opportunity
- 2.3 Americans with Disabilities Act Compliance
- 2.4 Proof of Citizenship/Immigration Law Compliance
- 2.5 Employment Categories/Classifications
- 2.6 Compensation Philosophy
- 2.7 Pay Practices, Employment Status, and Classification
- 2.8 Conflicts of Interest and University Ethics
- 2.9 Non-Disclosure, Proprietary and Confidential Information
- 2.10 Hiring of Relatives
- 2.11 Employment Applications
- 2.12 Workplace Schedule and Location Designation
- 2.13 New Employee Onboarding and Orientation

Section 3: STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE

- 3.1 Employee Conduct
- 3.2 Harmonious and Efficient Working Practices
- 3.3 Quality of Work
- 3.4 Drug and Alcohol Use
- 3.5 Procedures for Reporting Discrimination, Harassment, and Sexual Misconduct
- 3.6 Whistleblower
- 3.7 Workplace Violence Prevention
- 3.8 Professional Dress Code
- 3.9 Outside Employment
- 3.10 Social Media

Section 4: PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

- 4.1 Performance Evaluation
- 4.2 Career Mobility
- 4.3 Employee Concerns
- 4.4 Employment Termination

Section 5: ATTENDANCE, PAYROLL & ADMINISTRATIVE RECORDKEEPING

- 5.1 Attendance and Punctuality
- 5.2 Hours of Work
- 5.3 Individual Work Schedules
- 5.4 Timekeeping
- 5.5 Overtime
- 5.6 Ministry and Convocation
- 5.7 Severe Inclement Weather, Disaster, or Emergency Closings
- 5.8 Payroll
- 5.9 Personnel Data Changes
- 5.10 Requests for Employment Verification
- 5.11 Access to Employee Files/Records

Section 6: LEAVES OF ABSENCE

- 6.1 Absence from Work
- 6.2 Vacation Benefits
- 6.3 Holidays
- 6.4 Sick Days Benefits
- 6.5 Family and Medical Leave (FML)
- 6.6 Wage Continuation (Disability)
- 6.7 Lactation Accommodation
- 6.8 Pregnant Workers Fairness Act (PWFA)
- 6.9 Military Leave and Civil Air Patrol
- 6.10 Bereavement Leave
- 6.11 Jury Duty, Victim Rights, and Other Civic Responsibilities
- 6.12 Extended Personal Leave of Absence, Leave with Approval (Lack of Work) and Organ Donation Leave
- 6.13 Maternity Leave
- 6.14 Adoption Leave
- 6.15 Disaster Response Team Leave

Section 7: GENERAL OPERATING PROCEDURES

- 7.1 Media Communications
- 7.2 Solicitation

- 7.3 Computer Use
- 7.4 Weapons Policy
- 7.5 Safety
- 7.6 Security Inspections
- 7.7 Travel and Entertainment
- 7.8 Vehicle Safety and Approved Drivers
- 7.9 Traffic and Parking Regulations
- 7.10 Suicide Prevention Procedure
- 7.11 Child Abuse Reporting Requirements
- 7.12 Smoking
- 7.13 Visitors in the Workplace
- 7.14 Use of University Phones, Fax, Scanners and Mail
- 7.15 Return of Property
- 7.16 Lost and Found

Section 8: BENEFITS

- 8.1 General Information
- 8.2 HIPAA Privacy Policy
- 8.3 Benefits Continuation (COBRA)
- 8.4 Workers' Compensation Insurance
- 8.5 Employee Assistance Program (EAP)

HISTORY OF LIBERTY UNIVERSITY

For more than 50 years, the late Dr. Jerry Falwell and the congregation of Thomas Road Baptist Church (TRBC) have had a desire to provide young people with a quality Christian education. This vision eventually resulted in the founding of four schools: Liberty Christian Academy (1967), Liberty University (1971), Willmington School of the Bible (1972), Liberty University Baptist Theological Seminary (1973), and Liberty University Online Academy (2007).

First known as Lynchburg Baptist College in 1971, and subsequently Liberty Baptist College in 1977, it became Liberty University in 1985. Using the TRBC educational facilities classes began in September 1971 with 154 students enrolled.

Lynchburg Baptist College was incorporated in the Commonwealth of Virginia on January 18, 1972. It received authorization from the Commonwealth of Virginia Council of Higher Education to confer the baccalaureate degree on a provisional basis in 1974 and received full approval in June 1981.

Dr. Jerry Falwell, founder of Liberty University, also served as its Chancellor until his death on May 15, 2007. Dr. A. Pierre Guillermin, the first Administrator of Lynchburg Christian Academy, served as president of Liberty from 1975-1997, and Dr. John Borek, Jr. served as President from 1997-2004. In May 2004, Dr. Falwell was named Chancellor and President of Liberty University. Jerry Falwell, Jr. has served as President from Dr. Falwell's death in May 2007 until his resignation in August 2020. The Board of Trustees confirmed the appointment of Jerry Prevo, former Board Chairman, as Interim President on August 21, 2020. In March 2023, the Board of Trustees unanimously appointed Major General (Ret.) Dondi E. Costin, Ph.D. as the sixth president of the University. Pastor Jonathan Falwell was appointed the third Chancellor of Liberty.

The Thomas Road Bible Institute was established in 1972 to allow students of any educational background (from those without a high school diploma to those holding advanced degrees in other areas) to receive biblical training for practical Christian service. The late Dr. Harold Willmington was the co-founder of the Institute. The Bible Institute was renamed Liberty Bible Institute and became part of Liberty University in 1980. It was renamed the Willmington School of the Bible in 2007 and is housed in the John H. Rawlings School of Divinity.

However, there remained a need for graduates of Liberty and other colleges who wanted a post-graduate theological education to prepare to serve in churches and other ministries. To meet this need, Liberty Baptist Theological Seminary (first known as the Lynchburg Baptist Theological Seminary) was established in September 1973 with an initial enrollment of 41 students. In 1985, the Seminary merged with Liberty University and was later renamed Liberty University Baptist Theological Seminary in February 2012. In 2015, Liberty University Baptist Theological Seminary and the School of Religion merged to form the School of Divinity.

The property on Liberty Mountain was acquired by the University between 1972 and 2013. Marie F. Green Hall (GH), formerly the Ericsson property, was donated by Hobby Lobby Stores, Inc. in 2004. The campus of Liberty University is located on more than 7,000 total acres in the City of Lynchburg and neighboring Amherst, Bedford, and Campbell counties in Central Virginia.

In 1985, Liberty Baptist College became Liberty University and academic divisions became colleges and schools. Currently, Liberty University comprises 15 colleges and schools. Below is a brief history:

• Religion (1971) and Seminary (1973) merged to form the John H. Rawlings School of Divinity

(2015)

- College of Arts & Sciences (1985)
- Business and Government (1985) divided to form two separate schools (2004)
- Helms School of Government (2004)
- Communication (1985) was split into two schools Communication & Digital Content (2017) and Visual & Performing Arts (2017) – then merged to form the School of Communication & the Arts (2020)
- Education (1985)
- Law (2002)
- Engineering and Computational Sciences (2007). Computational Sciences programs were moved to the School of Business in 2018, resulting in the renaming to the School of Engineering
- Aeronautics (2008)
- College of Osteopathic Medicine (2012)
- Health Sciences (2012)
- Music (2013)
- Behavioral Sciences (2014)
- Nursing (2014); and
- Center for Academic Support & Advising Services became the College of Applied Studies & Academic Success (2015). The College of General Studies dissolved into the College of Applied Studies & Academic Success in 2019.

Founded in 1985, as the School of Lifelong Learning (LUSLL), Liberty University Online offers distance learning programs at the certificate, undergraduate, graduate, and doctoral levels. Initial programs offered were the A.A. in Religion, B.S. in Church Ministries, and the M.A. in Counseling. Liberty's distance learning program was approved by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges (SACSCOC) December 4, 1991.

Established in 1967 as Lynchburg Christian Academy (LCA), the K-12 school developed as a ministry of Thomas Road Baptist Church (TRBC) and was housed at the original TRBC location. It was renamed Liberty Christian Academy (LCA) in 2005, when a new campus was built adjacent to Liberty University. This supported Dr. Falwell's dream that envisioned a total educational program under the Liberty banner for students from pre-school through a graduate university. On February 1, 2017, LCA became a subsidiary of Liberty University. LCA was initially accredited by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools (SACS) and the Association of Christian Schools International in 1995. LCA is accredited by the Association of Christian Schools International (ACSI) and Cognia (formerly SACS CASI/AdvanceEd) and is recognized as an accredited institution by the Commonwealth of Virginia.

In spring 2007, Liberty University Online Academy (LUOA) was established as the K-12 division of Liberty University Online. LUOA applied for candidacy status with the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Council on Accreditation and School Improvement (SACS CASI), an accrediting division of AdvancEd, which was awarded on May 14, 2007. In spring 2021, a Cognia (formerly AdvancEd) Digital Learning Accreditation Engagement Review of LUOA resulted with accreditation granted through June 30, 2026. LUOA is also accredited by the Association of Christian Schools International (ACSI).

1.2 ACCREDITATION HISTORY

Liberty received initial accreditation status as a Level II member institution by the Southern Association of College and Schools Commission on Colleges (SACSCOC) in December 1980. The School of Education (Master of Education) and the School of Religion (Master of Arts) first offered graduate-level courses leading to master's degrees in 1983. With the addition of these graduate programs, Liberty (then LBC)

received approval for Level III membership (master's level) by SACSCOC in 1984. Level IV membership was awarded in 1987.

In 1987, the Seminary offered the University's first doctoral degree, the Doctor of Ministry, which resulted in SACSCOC awarding Liberty University Level V membership in 1993. The School of Education first offered courses leading to the Doctor of Education (Ed.D.) in fall 1999, followed by the College of Arts & Sciences offering the University's first Ph.D. program in Counseling in fall 2002. The Seminary implemented the Ph.D. in Theology and Apologetics in fall 2008. The addition of this last degree program increased the number of doctoral degrees offered by Liberty to four, allowing Liberty to advance as a Level VI institution — the highest membership classification for SACSCOC accredited institutions.

Liberty University received SACSCOC reaffirmation of accreditation at the December 2016 annual meeting and is accredited through December 2026.

Liberty University School of Law began offering first year classes leading to the Juris Doctor (J.D.) degree in August 2004. On August 5, 2010, the School of Law was awarded full accreditation by the American Bar Association Council of the Section of Legal Education and Admissions to the Bar. * The College of Osteopathic Medicine received accreditation from the American Osteopathic Association Commission on Osteopathic College Accreditation in April 2018. Classes leading to the Doctor of Osteopathic Medicine (D.O.) degree began in fall 2014 and the first class graduated in 2018.

*American Bar Association, 321 N. Clark Street, Chicago, Illinois 60654-7598, 312-988-5000

<u>Programmatic Accreditation</u>. Liberty also holds additional programmatic accreditation for many of its programs. The full list is published <u>online</u>.

1.3 PHILOSOPHY OF EDUCATION

Liberty University is a distinctively Christian academic community. As such, Liberty continues the philosophy of education which first gave rise to the University, and which is summarized in the following propositions.

God, the infinite source of all things, has shown us truth through Scripture, nature, history, and, above all, Christ.

Persons are spiritual, rational, moral, social and physical, created in the image of God. They are, therefore, able to know and to value themselves and other persons, the universe, and God.

Education, as the process of teaching and learning, involves the whole person, by developing the knowledge, values, and skills which enable each individual to change freely. Thus, it occurs most effectively when both instructor and student are properly related to God and each other through Christ.

Source: Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation Approved by the Board of Trustees April 16, 2021

1.4 STATEMENT OF MISSION AND PURPOSE

Maintaining the vision of its founder, Dr. Jerry Falwell, Liberty University develops Christ-centered men and women with the values, knowledge, and skills essential to impact the world.

Through its residential and online programs, services, facilities, and collaborations, the University educates men and women who will make important contributions to their workplaces and communities, follow their chosen vocations as callings to glorify God, and fulfill the Great Commission.

Liberty University will:

- Emphasize excellence in teaching and learning.
- Foster university-level competencies in communication, critical thinking, information literacy, and mathematics in all undergraduate programs.
- Ensure competency in scholarship, research, and professional communication in all graduate programs and undergraduate programs where appropriate.
- Promote the synthesis of academic knowledge and Christian worldview in order that there might be a maturing of spiritual, intellectual, social, and physical value-driven behavior.
- Enable students to engage in a major field of study in career-focused disciplines built on a solid foundation in the liberal arts.
- Promote an understanding of the Western tradition and the diverse elements of American cultural history, especially the importance of the individual in maintaining democratic and free market processes.
- Contribute to a knowledge and understanding of other cultures and of international events.
- Encourage a commitment to the Christian life, one of personal integrity, sensitivity to the needs of others, social responsibility, and active communication of the Christian faith, and, as it is lived out, a life that leads people to Jesus Christ as the Lord of the universe and their own personal Savior.

Source: Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation Approved by the Board of Trustees April 16, 2021

STATEMENT OF DOCTRINE

We affirm our belief in one God, infinite Spirit, creator, and sustainer of all things, who exists eternally in three persons, God the Father, God the Son, and God the Holy Spirit. These three are one in essence but distinct in person and function.

We affirm that the Father is the first person of the Trinity and the source of all that God is and does. From Him, the Son is eternally generated and from Them, the Spirit eternally proceeds. He is the designer of creation, the speaker of revelation, the author of redemption, and the sovereign of history.

We affirm that the Lord Jesus Christ is the second person of the Trinity. Eternally begotten from the Father, He is God. He was conceived by the virgin Mary through a miracle of the Holy Spirit. He lives forever as perfect God and perfect man: two distinct natures inseparably united in one person.

We affirm that the Holy Spirit is the third person of the Trinity, proceeding from the Father and the Son and equal in deity. He is the giver of all life, active in the creating and ordering of the universe; He is the agent of inspiration and the new birth; He restrains sin and Satan; and He indwells and sanctifies all believers.

We affirm that all things were created by God. Angels were created as ministering agents, though some, under the leadership of Satan, fell from their sinless state to become agents of evil. The universe was created in six historical days and is continuously sustained by God; thus it both reflects His glory and reveals His truth. Human beings were directly created, not evolved, in the very image of God, as either biologically male or female from the womb. As reasoning moral agents, they are responsible under God for understanding and governing themselves and the world.

We affirm that the Bible, both Old and New Testaments, though written by men, was supernaturally inspired by God so that all its words are the written true revelation of God; it is therefore inerrant in the originals and authoritative in all matters. It is to be understood by all through the illumination of the Holy Spirit, its meaning determined by the historical, grammatical, and literary use of the author's language, comparing Scripture with Scripture.

We affirm that Adam, the first man, willfully disobeyed God, bringing sin and death into the world. As a result, all persons are sinners from conception, which is evidenced in their willful acts of sin; and they are therefore subject to eternal punishment, under the just condemnation of a holy God.

We affirm that Jesus Christ offered Himself as a sacrifice by the appointment of the Father. He fulfilled the demands of God by His obedient life, died on the cross in full substitution and payment for the sins of all people, was buried, and on the third day, He arose physically and bodily from the dead. He ascended into heaven where He now intercedes for all believers.

We affirm that each person can be saved only through the work of Jesus Christ, through repentance of sin, and by faith alone in Him as Savior. The believer is declared righteous, born again by the Holy Spirit, turned from sin, and assured of heaven.

We affirm that the Holy Spirit indwells all who are born again, conforming them to the likeness of Jesus Christ. This is a process completed only in Heaven. Every believer is responsible to live in obedience to the Word of God in separation from sin. Doing so produces a distinctly Christian lifestyle of practicing virtues and avoiding sin. Among other virtues, followers of Jesus Christ will: show evidence of the Holy Spirit living within them such as love, joy, peace, patience, kindness, goodness, faithfulness, gentleness and self-control; put on compassion, kindness, humility, gentleness, patience, forgiveness and supremely, love; seek righteousness, mercy and justice, particularly for the helpless and oppressed; love and side with what is good in God's eyes and abhor what is evil in God's eyes; uphold the God-given worth of all human beings, from conception to death, as the unique image-bearers of God; treat all people impartially, seeing them as equals before God and worthy of salvation; pursue unity and embrace people of all tribes and tongues as part of God's design for humanity; uphold chastity among the unmarried and the sanctity of marriage between one natural-born man and one natural-born woman; be people of integrity whose word can be fully trusted; give faithful witness to the Gospel; practice good works toward all; and live lives of prayer and thanksgiving. Sinful acts are prohibited by God and include but are not limited to: worship of idols or gods other than the Lord God of the Bible; denying Jesus Christ as eternal, as God's son in flesh, as resurrected, as Creator, as Lord or as Messiah who died for the sins of all people; rejection of Jesus Christ or rebellion against God; blasphemy; participation in devil worship, practice of the occult, astrology, fortune-telling, sorcery, or witchcraft; taking of innocent life; denial of birth sex by self-identification with a different gender; married persons sexually or romantically coupling with a person other than their spouse; sexual relations outside of marriage between one natural-born man and one natural-born woman; romantic coupling among persons of the same sex; prostitution; orgies; rape; drunkenness; use of profanity and vulgarity; injustice; making false statements; dishonest sales and exchanges of money; thievery; fits of rage; and illegal activity.

We affirm that God ordained three institutions with unique purposes in society: marriage, government, and the church. God established marriage as a covenantal bond between a natural-born man and a natural-born woman to populate the earth, to raise and spiritually train children within a family, to provide the couple with intimate companionship, loving help, and joy, and to serve as an illustration of the relationship of Jesus Christ to the church. God established civil government to protect its citizens, punish evil, and reward good. God established the church as the entire body of believers with Jesus Christ as the cornerstone and the apostles as its foundation to evangelize, baptize and disciple people of all nations.

We affirm that a church is a local assembly of baptized believers, under the discipline of the Word of God and the lordship of Christ, organized to carry out the commission to evangelize, to teach, and to administer the ordinances of believer's baptism and the Lord's table. Its offices are pastors and deacons, and it is self-governing. It functions through the ministry of gifts given by the Holy Spirit to each believer.

We affirm that the return of Christ for all believers is imminent. It will be followed by seven years of great tribulation, and then the coming of Christ to establish His earthly kingdom for a thousand years. The unsaved will then be raised and judged according to their works and separated forever from God in hell. The saved, having been raised, will live forever in heaven in fellowship with God.

Section 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 INTRODUCTION TO THE EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK

This Handbook is intended as a general guideline on employment and workplace policies and procedures that Liberty University has put in place. It is not intended to set forth either express or implied contractual obligations of Liberty University. Liberty University retains the right to amend, alter, or abolish any or all of these policies as circumstances warrant with or without advance notice to employees, except as required under law.

Liberty University (Liberty) shall be referred to as "the University" for all reference purposes in this Handbook.

No representative or agent of the University has the authority to enter into an agreement with an employee that is contrary to the foregoing. Only the President or his authorized designee, has authority to modify the at-will nature of employment or to modify any policy contained herein. Any such modification to the at-will status must be in writing as an express amendment or exception to the at-will policy and signed by the President or his authorized designee in order to be enforceable.

Every attempt has been made to address questions regarding the University's policies; however, if further assistance is necessary, questions should be referred to the appropriate supervisor and/or Human Resources.

This Handbook should be used in conjunction with any Standard Operational Procedures specific to departmental requirements and safety regulations, current individual job descriptions specific to an employee's job duties and responsibilities, and any other written policies and procedures as outlined residing on employee websites.

This Handbook is intended for use by all Liberty University employees including faculty, staff, and student workers. Faculty employees should refer to their respective handbooks for information specific to processes and procedures as outlined for their positions. General employment policies outlined in this Handbook will be used in conjunction with all other School/Departmental-specific handbooks. If employment policy language in any of these ancillary handbooks conflicts with the employment policy language in this Handbook, the policy in this Handbook will be considered to be the most current and applicable policy.

Adherence to the policies set forth herein is a condition of continued employment; however, nothing contained in this Handbook alters the at-will status of Liberty employees, and nothing contained in this Handbook shall constitute a contract or promise of employment, with the exception to certain Employment Agreements. Liberty University and employee each remain free to terminate their employment relationship, with or without advance notice for any reason or for no reason at all.

Section 2: EMPLOYMENT POLICIES

2.1 HUMAN RESOURCES OFFICE

The Human Resources Office for the University serves the interests of faculty, staff, and student workers of the University.

Human Resources plans, develops, implements, and maintains quality programs and services that comply with regional accreditation standards, creating cost-effective strategies in the administration and delivery of its programs and services. Human Resources supports the University by continually striving to attract and retain top talent for the University through continual improvement and quality control of hiring practices, performance management, compensation and benefits, cultural enhancement, and training and development opportunities.

Human Resources continually monitors both federal and state law to ensure full compliance while mitigating the risks and liabilities associated with all employment-related activities.

2.2 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY

The University is an Equal Opportunity Employer. We believe it is our moral and legal obligation to meet the responsibility of ensuring that all management practices regarding employees are conducted in a nondiscriminatory manner.

In compliance with Title VII of the 1964 Civil Rights Act, and other applicable federal and state statutes, all recruiting, hiring, training, and promoting for all job classifications will be administered without regard to race, color, ancestry, age, sex, national origin, pregnancy or childbirth, disability, military veteran status or other applicable status protected by law, including state of employment protected classes. It is, therefore, our policy and intention to evaluate all employees and prospective employees strictly according to the requirements of the job.

All personnel-related activities such as compensation, benefits, transfers, job classification, assignments, working conditions, educational assistance, terminations, layoffs, and return from layoffs, and all other terms, conditions, and privileges of employment will be administered without regard to race, color, ancestry, age, sex, national origin, pregnancy or childbirth, disability, military veteran status or other applicable status protected by law, including all applicable state of employment protected classes.

The University is a Christian religious-affiliated organization; and as such, is not subject to religious discrimination requirements. The University's hiring practices and EEO discrimination practices are in compliance with both federal and state law. Federal law creates an exception to the "religion" component of the employment discrimination laws for religious organizations (including educational institutions), and permits them to give employment practice preference to members of their own religious beliefs.

2.3 AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT COMPLIANCE

Any individual with a disability as defined by the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) as amended, who meets a job's skill, experience, education, and other related requirements and who can perform the essential functions of the job, whether with or without reasonable accommodation, will be considered without regard to their disability for all recruiting, hiring, training, and promoting, and all personnel-related activities such as compensation, benefits, transfers, educational assistance, layoffs, and return from layoffs.

The University will make reasonable efforts to accommodate individuals with disabilities, as long as the accommodations do not present an undue hardship on the operation of the specific department or the University at large. An Employee Relations representative will work with the employee requesting an accommodation on an interactive basis during the accommodation request review and determination process. For additional information on ADA, contact the Human Resources Office.

How to request an accommodation:

Employees who believe they may qualify for an accommodation due to disability or handicap, may make a request for accommodation by contacting the Human Resources office at 434-592-7330 or by emailing benefits@liberty.edu.

No employee will be subject to any retaliation for requesting and/or working under any accommodation.

2.4 PROOF OF CITIZENSHIP/IMMIGRATION LAW COMPLIANCE

The Immigration Reform and Control Act (IRCA) of 1986 requires the University to determine an applicant's identity and employability at the time of employment. Each employee must complete the Employment Eligibility and Verification Form (Form I-9) verifying his or her status of citizenship or legal eligibility to work in the U.S. and furnish documents to establish identity and employability on his or her first day of employment with the University. The University is required under law to collect validated I-9 documentation within the first three days of employment. Employees may not begin work prior to receipt and validation of qualifying documentation.

Liberty uses E-Verify to supplement all I-9's completed. E-Verify is an Internet-based system that compares information from an employee's Form I-9 to records available to the U.S. Department of Homeland Security and the Social Security Administration to confirm employment eligibility.

Residential and hybrid employees must bring physical and original documentation to the HR office for verification. Remote employees may utilize the alternative method which will allow HR to verify the employee's documentation remotely. All employees are encouraged to reference the U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services page for guidance and examples on the acceptable documents they can present.

Our International Specialist(s) within HR works in collaboration with the International Student Center to provide guidance to international employees as well as facilitating internal auditing to assure compliance with Immigration law.

Employees having questions or seeking more information on immigration law issues or processes and procedures relative to Visas or Visa renewals are encouraged to contact Human Resources.

2.5 EMPLOYMENT CATEGORIES/CLASSIFICATIONS

It is the intent of the University to clarify the definitions of employment classifications so employees will understand their employment status and benefit eligibility. These classifications do not guarantee employment for any specified period of time.

For purposes of salary administration and eligibility for overtime payments and employee benefits, the University classifies its employees and other workers as follows:

12-MONTH BENEFITED FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES. Employees hired to work the University's normal, full-time, 40-hour workweek on a regular basis. Such employees may be "exempt" or "non-exempt" as defined below. Generally, they are eligible for the University's most current benefit package, subject to the terms, conditions, and limitations of each benefit program. All new employees are notified of their classification in their offer letter, and the employee's pay advice will indicate their current classification as exempt (salaried) or non-exempt (hourly).

PART-TIME REGULAR EMPLOYEES. Employees hired to work fewer than 40 hours per week on a regular basis. Such employees may be "exempt" or "non-exempt" as defined below. Part-time employees receive all legally mandated benefits (such as the University's social security tax portion, workers' compensation insurance, and any other benefit required by state law based on hours worked. Part-time employees averaging 30 hours or more per week are eligible for medical and dental insurance, and are eligible for non-matching participation in the 403(b) retirement plan so long as they average 20 hours per week. Part-time student workers do not qualify for participation in the university retirement plans. Part-time employees are not eligible for the University's other benefit programs, including vacation and sick leave. The employee's pay advice will indicate their current classification of exempt or non-exempt. The university's normal policy is to limit part time work to no more than 29 hours per week.

TEMPORARY PART-TIME/ SEASONAL EMPLOYEES. Employees engaged to work full-time or part-time on the University's payroll with the understanding that their employment will be terminated no later than on completion of a specific assignment or within 3 months, whichever is less. Employment beyond any initially stated period does not in any way imply a change in employment status. Temporary employees retain that status unless and until notified of a change. Although temporary employees receive all legally mandated benefits, they are ineligible for other University benefit programs. Such employees may be "exempt" or non-exempt as defined below. The employee's pay advice will indicate their classification.

Note: Temporary staff contracted from employment agencies for specific assignments are employees of the respective agency and are not considered employees of the University. Qualified Independent Contractors are not considered employees of the University.

All employees, regardless of employment category/classification, temporary staff contracted from employment agencies, and independent contractors of the University are expected to abide by policies outlined by the Handbook and will be required to sign an agreement stating such.

All employees are classified as either exempt or non-exempt under the provisions of the Federal Wage-Hour Law, Fair Labor Standards Act.

EXEMPT EMPLOYEES. Employees who are not required to be paid overtime, in accordance with applicable federal wage and hour laws, for work performed beyond forty hours in a workweek. Employees qualifying as exempt may be required to work beyond the forty hours in a workweek, and are expected to work the time necessary to satisfactorily complete the responsibilities of the position.

To be classified as an exempt employee, the salary, nature of work, and duties must meet the specifications for one of the following categories:

- Executive (Managerial)
- Administrative (Technical)
- Outside Sales or Marketing
- Professional
- Highly Skilled Computer-related Occupation

NONEXEMPT EMPLOYEES. Employees who are required to be paid overtime at the rate of time and one-half (i.e., one and one-half times) their regular rate of pay for all actual hours worked beyond forty hours in a workweek, in accordance with applicable federal wage and hour laws.

Employees will be informed of their initial employment classification and of their status as an exempt or nonexempt employee upon hire and as stated in their offer letter. If an employee changes positions during employment that results in a change to their classification, such as a change in hours, the result of a promotion, transfer into a position, or other employment action, the employee's classification will be reflected in their Workday file and on their current pay advice.

2.6 COMPENSATION PHILOSOPHY

At Liberty University we recognize that our Christian based employees are our greatest assets, and we take our stewardship of providing equitable, fair, and competitive compensation and benefits to employees very seriously. Our compensation philosophy supports the University's Mission and Strategic Goals through pay practices and benefits that attract, engage, develop, and retain top talent with the skillsets, experience, and Christian values that drive excellence. Biblical foundation for that belief can be found in scripture (Matthew 10:10) "the worker is worth his keep".

As such, the University places great value on our employees and desires to honor the biblical value of fairness in determining appropriate rewards that recognize the contributions of our employees through establishing and maintaining market-driven salary ranges that are competitive with comparable peers.

Salary Ranges

HR conducts ongoing research and market analysis of each position in the University, benchmarking against other comparable peer institutions to establish position ranges. We perform an annual compensation assessment for each Department and School staff using methodology that utilizes professional resources, benchmarking, and market factors. Ranges target median compensation, based on the duties and responsibilities of the job, and years of experience in the position. Staff will have the opportunity to discuss their own position range with their manager to promote an open understanding of their individual salary range, career path, and future opportunities.

Annual Merit Review

We designed our compensation program with the intent to align total pay with performance in achieving the University's goals. By doing so, we seek to motivate employee engagement and enhance our culture, which we believe drives excellence. Merit increases and adjustments to salary may be provided based on employee performance and the University's consideration of financial resources.

2.7 PAY PRACTICES, EMPLOYMENT STATUS AND CLASSIFICATION

Liberty University strictly abides by all applicable federal, state, and local laws in the payment of wages for work performed and services provided to the University. To that end, Human Resources has developed the following policy and related standard procedures relative to the pay practices for all categories of workers performing services for the University.

Workers, defined as either an employee, student worker, or an independent contractor, are classified based on current federal and state laws, following the Internal Revenue Code (IRC), Department of Labor (Dol), the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), and other applicable laws.

Workers are defined in four categories, employees, student workers, independent contractors, and workers hired through a third-party contract services organization. GSA/GAs are addressed as well.

Workers hired through a third party, contract services organization:

These workers remain the employees of the contracted vendor/organization; are paid through the vendor/organization; and are not subject to, or eligible for direct pay or the extension of any employee benefits offered to eligible employees of the University. Typically, contracted vendors/firms conducting work on University property with exposure to, or interaction with students are required to conduct and provide proof of a satisfactory background check per contract provisions, prior to the worker performing any work for the University.

Employees:

The payment of a worker's wages and the eligibility for benefits are strictly defined under University policy and applicable federal and state laws, as controlled through multiple agencies. Federal law defines an employee as "any individual who works under the supervision or control of the organization". State law is even stricter, indicating any worker is "an employee unless proven otherwise".

Regular Full-Time Employees:

Regular full-time employees consistently working 40 hours or more per week are normally eligible for the University's most current benefits package; subject to the terms, conditions, and limitations of each benefit program. Only those employees considered as regular full-time employees qualify for employee benefits.

Regular full-time employees are classified as exempt (salaried) or nonexempt (hourly). (Liberty does not pay nonexempt employees on a salaried basis.) Employees are notified of their classification in their new hire offer letter, and classification is identified on the employee's pay advice. HR classifies an employee as Exempt or Nonexempt as determined by FLSA qualification criteria, based on the salary test and the level of the duties and responsibilities of the position as identified in the position job description.

• Nonexempt employees are paid on an hourly basis and are eligible for overtime at time and one-half of their regular hourly rate for actual time worked (including paid holidays) over 40 hours in a workweek. (Certain states require overtime payment for work over 8 hours in any one day.) Nonexempt, hourly employees must record time in and out for all time worked during the week. Pre-approval by the employee's supervisor is required prior to working overtime.

Supplemental Pay – Nonexempt, Hourly: If pre-approved by the department head, nonexempt,

hourly employees may elect to work additional time for the University outside their normal job (at their regular hourly rate of pay or at a different hourly rate agreed upon for the project work). Nonexempt employees must record all time worked in their regular job at their regular pay rate and must record all additional time worked outside their regular job at the time the work is performed within the regular work week, subject to overtime payment for all actual hours worked over 40 hours in the workweek. Nonexempt, hourly employees cannot be paid on a project basis as a flat fee or lump sum; payments for additional work must be calculated as an hourly rate, at no less than the current minimum wage as required under law, subject to qualifying overtime.

Payment for all time worked by the nonexempt employee must be recorded and paid through payroll, subject to overtime payment (and minimum wage requirements as mandated by the state or locality), as required by IRS and FLSA regulations and state law. All pay is subject to normal federal, state and local taxation, as required under law, as well as any elected benefit payment withdrawals.

• Exempt employees, typically scheduled to work a regular 40-hour workweek, are paid on a salaried basis and are required to work the number of hours necessary to satisfactorily perform the duties of the job. Exempt, salaried employees are exempt from overtime based on meeting the applicable FLSA exemption tests. The employee's qualification as Exempt is based on the level of duties and responsibilities of the job, as identified in the employee's job description. Exempt employees do not work on an hourly basis and do not record all time worked.

Supplemental Pay – Exempt, Salaried: If pre-approved by the department head, exempt employees may elect to work additional time outside their normal job; and are paid on a pre-set, lump sum bonus basis as agreed upon for the project work.

Bonus pay cannot be calculated based on converting the employee's salary to an hourly amount and cannot be paid on a regular payroll basis. Bonuses will be paid through regular payroll, based on the agreed schedule. (Bonuses cannot be paid more frequently than on a monthly basis.)

Part-Time Employees:

Part-time employees typically work on a nonexempt, hourly basis, less than 40 hours per week, typically less than 30 hours per week, on a regular basis and are not eligible for benefits (with the exception of worker's compensation insurance and other benefits mandated based on number of hours worked). If a part-time employee works more than one job within the University in any one workweek, applicable overtime is calculated for actual time worked over 40 hours in the work week at one and a half times the employee's regular hourly rate of pay, all jobs combined. Typically, COLAs or other bonuses offered to full-time employees are not extended to part-time employees.

Part-time employees are subject to reporting all hours of work. Part-time employees are also subject to all normal hiring and payroll procedures as indicated above under full-time regular employees. (Occasionally, based on individual FLSA testing, a part-time employee may be classified by HR as an exempt, part-time employee; subject to time keeping and payroll processes specific to exempt employees).

Temporary Part-Time Employees:

Temporary part-time employees typically work on a nonexempt, hourly basis, working less than 40 hours per week (normally authorized for less than 30 hours per week) on a temporary basis.

Temporary part-time employees are normally scheduled to work for a specific period of time with both a start date and an end date. Temporary part-time employees are not eligible for benefits (with the exception of worker's compensation insurance and other benefits as mandated based on number of hours worked). Typically, COLAs or other bonuses offered to full-time employees are not extended to temporary part-time employees. Temporary part-time employees are subject to all normal hiring and payroll procedures as indicated by their status and classification. (Occasionally, a temporary part-time employee may be hired for 40 hours per week for a specific period with both a start date and end date; limited to a maximum of three (3) months). If a temporary part-time employee actually works applicable overtime of more than 40 hours in the workweek all jobs combined, the employee will receive overtime at time and a half for all hours over 40 hours.

Contracted Exempt Faculty and Contracted Exempt Staff – Supplemental Pay:

Contracted employees, classified as exempt are eligible for supplemental pay for pre-approved work performed outside their contract. Typically, payment for such work will be determined on a fee (bonus) basis and paid through regular payroll.

Independent Contractor

An Independent Contractor (IC) must be pre-authorized through Human Resources prior to engagement. The University is required to qualify and prove the status of an IC based on the scope of the work and the individual's ability to successfully meet the stringent criteria required by the IRS, DOL, and State-mandated qualifying tests. The primary criteria resides in the control of the work, financial viability, type and level of the work, and the knowledge basis (expertise), experience, and background of the individual candidate. Individuals who qualify will be required to successfully complete a standard background check and will be contracted as an IC through the appropriate Liberty University Independent Contractor form, following the regular Contract Administration/Buy LU process.

Typically, current employees and employees who have been terminated for less than one year and requesting to provide similar services as an IC will not meet the required criteria to qualify as an IC. Individuals who seek to provide services as an IC will typically need to prove their qualification for this status by showing the ability to control the work with limited supervision, show no financial dependence on the university for work as an IC, along with providing proof of performing similar high-level services for other clients.

Management anticipates a limited number of individuals seeking the status of IC will qualify, and that the department or school will need to hire the individual as an employee under the applicable status of regular full-time, part-time, or temporary part-time.

Information pertinent to engaging an IC and the required Independent Contractor Questionnaire that must be approved by HR prior **to engagement** of the perspective IC can be found on the HR webpage. HR will review each prospective IC to ensure qualifications and compliance. (The full process to engage an IC can be found under the Independent Contractor Qualification Questionnaire found on the Human Resource webpage.)

Student Workers and GSAs/GAs

Many departments and schools utilize our current student population for employment opportunities.

Student workers, with the exception of qualifying GSA's and GA's, are covered by regulations

applicable to student workers in higher education, paid on normal payroll as nonexempt hourly student workers. Eligible student workers can work in either work study programs or other part-time student worker positions for up to 29 hours maximum per week (all jobs combined), international students 18 hours per week maximum (all jobs combined).

GSA/GA's must meet both the IRS and FLSA qualifying exemption tests in order to qualify as a GSA or GA, paid on a stipend basis (exempt from minimum wage and overtime), which are:

- Must be teaching or providing teaching assistance in the GSA/GA's field of study; or coaching athletic students or providing coaching assistance in the GSA/GA's field of study. *
- Must be conducting research in the GSA/GA's field of study. *
- Must be enrolled as a full-time student, program specific (Qualification ceases upon the GSA/GA's completion of the Program/Degree.

*GSA/GA's cannot be working in a general clerical, labor or administrative function for a department or school to qualify for stipend pay treatment. For instance, teaching/instruction responsibilities and related activities such as grading classwork, lab/student interaction, working on curriculum, program or class planning, research specific to program/class, reporting specific to program/class and other duties specific to student teaching or student coaching, and specific research will meet qualifying duties. Typically, if the GSA/GA is providing administrative back up for the department or school or performing other duties (such as setting up meetings, filing, scheduling, data entry/reporting (other than teaching specific), physically setting up, breaking down or maintaining space or equipment, assisting with facilities, assisting with recruitment, or other indirect program/school activities), the GSA/GA does not qualify for the stipend status and must be paid on an hourly basis at no less than minimum wage for work performed. Typically, a stipend qualified GSA/GA works no more than 20 hours or as stipulated in their GSA/GA agreement. All other GA's can work up to 29 hours per week (all jobs included). International student workers or GSA/GA's can work up to 18 hours.

Undergraduate students and graduate students may apply for regular part-time or regular full-time positions with the University. Students must meet all qualifications of the position, and will not be given preference over more qualified candidates for the position. Students are not guaranteed a position with the University.

Additional information specific to student workers and GSA/GA's can be found on the University's Student Worker and Graduate Assistantship websites.

https://www.liberty.edu/human-resources/student-work/

There may be exceptions to the pay practices listed above for certain student work required as part of a degree program internship or otherwise provided under special graduate assistantship programs.

2.8 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST and UNIVERSITY ETHICS

Employment by the University carries with it a responsibility to be constantly aware of the importance of ethical conduct. Employees must refrain from taking part in, or exerting influence in, any transaction in which their own interests may conflict with the best interests of the University.

The University recognizes and respects the individual employee's right to engage in activities outside of his or her employment that are private in nature and do not in any way conflict with, or reflect poorly on the University, or interfere with the employee's ability to fully perform his or her employment duties. Management reserves the right, however, to determine when an employee's activities represent a conflict with the University's interests and to take whatever action is necessary to resolve the situation.

It is not possible in a general policy statement of this sort to define all the various circumstances and relationships that would be considered "unethical." The list below suggests some examples of the types of policies that employees are expected to abide by:

- All employees are expected to refrain from any actions or activities that impair or appear to impair, objectivity in the performance of their duties for the University.
- All business activities must be conducted in full compliance with both the letter and the spirit of all applicable laws and safety regulations. Each employee is expected to serve the University with good judgment, discretion, and in the best interests of the University.
- It is a violation of University policy for an employee, or anyone acting on behalf of any employee, to ask for, accept, or agree to accept anything of value for their personal gain, or the personal gain for another, or to accept or agree to accept, or pay or agree to pay any money, service or other valuable consideration in exchange for any University business-related favor, advantage or benefit.
- Employees are not permitted to accept any simultaneous employment relationship with another organization without prior notification to their supervisor and/or department head; including serving as an advisor or consultant to any educational organization, unless that activity is conducted as a representative of the University and/or approved by management.
- University policy does not encourage the receipt of gifts by employees for their personal gain (or personal gain of those related to or associated with the employee) from persons, firms or companies that do or seek to do business with the University, unless specifically authorized by Executive Management. The acceptance of cash or its equivalent in any amount is absolutely prohibited. Business meals or gifts of a token value may be accepted or retained if the circumstances indicate that refusing the gift would be inconsistent with the University's best business interests.
- No employee may offer or agree to offer to any person or company with which the University does
 business or seeks to do business, or to their agent, any valuable consideration intended or likely to
 inappropriately influence the recipient's impartiality in serving the interests he or she represents
 without approval of Executive Management.
- Rumors, gossip, or disclosure of inappropriate or confidential information to the public is strictly prohibited. The spreading of rumors, gossip, derogatory opinions, or inappropriate and

confidential information regarding other employees, supervisors, management, or the Board, whether such discussions are internal or external, will not be tolerated by the University. All employees are expected to refrain from participating in any such activity either as an instigator or as an audience of such discussions.

- The University is committed to maintaining the highest standards of quality, honesty, and integrity in its business dealings. All employees are required to use their best efforts to ensure that no false, misleading, or deceptive information is disseminated.
- No employee of the University may misuse confidential or proprietary information or reveal confidential or proprietary information to any outside source.
- While representing the University and/or while wearing identifying logos, employees are expected to
 conduct themselves in a professional manner representing a positive University image, whether
 during business hours or while on personal time.

As a general guideline to the professional and business ethics, an employee should ask the following questions:

- Is the action legal, does it meet full disclosure standards of the University's mission?
- Does the action enhance the University's reputation with the public, academic community, students/ customers, vendors, or other employees?
- Does the action comply with University's policies and procedures?
- Does the action compromise personal ethics?
- How would the action look in the newspaper or on television?

Should an employee have any doubts or concerns regarding a particular action, he or she should seek advice from management and/or contact Human Resources with any questions.

Any employee who, during the course of employment, believes that he or she has been compromised in any way regarding any action that could be construed as illegal or unethical; or if they are aware of another's actions that violate this code, they should bring it to the attention of Executive Management immediately. There can be no exceptions of responsibility in observing the University's policy on business ethics, nor can an employee justify an illegal or improper act by claiming it was ordered or authorized by a supervisor or co-worker when the employee knew or "should have reasonably known" the action to be questionable. Refer to the Whistleblower Policy.

No employee will be retaliated against in any way for bringing a good faith report of suspected questionable action to the attention of management, nor will they suffer any adverse consequence for participating in such an investigation.

2.9 NON-DISCLOSURE, PROPRIETARY AND CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

The University has developed certain proprietary products and processes that are unique to the University. Any and all materials and information ("Confidential Information") provided by the University, any related subsidiaries, its employees or agents during the course of an employee's employment by the University and thereafter shall remain the property of the University; including, without limitation, all patents, copyrights, registered processes, specifications, operating manuals, student or similar lists; written policies, procedures, guidelines, protocols, and forms; University products, processes and services; any and all financial information; as well as any and all programs and software that contain such material and information. Employee agrees to hold the Confidential Information in strict confidence and shall not disclose it to others, whether during the term of employment by the University or thereafter.

Employee agrees to hold confidential any third-party information including employees, vendors, and student/customer information obtained in the course of conducting services and business for the student/customer and shall not disclose it to others, whether during the term of employment by the University or thereafter. Standards and Procedures as they relate to specific work areas or departments may be outlined under separate guidelines relating to an employee's specific duties and the manner in which they deal with the public and confidential information. All employees should be familiar with these specific guidelines and abide by any additional directives therein.

Employee shall not remove, copy, or otherwise reproduce any documents, notebooks, computer programs, records, e-mails, or similar repositories containing or referring to any Confidential Information, whether during the term hereof or thereafter, without the prior written consent of the University. Upon termination of employment, the employee shall return all such Confidential Information to the University.

Work for Hire - All works created by the employee in the scope of his or her employment will remain the property of the University should the employee leave for any reason. Disclosure of information obtained in the course of an employee's employment with the University and that is generally unknown to the public, that may negatively impact the University or its Officers, Board or other employees is considered Confidential Information. Disclosure of this information is strictly prohibited.

The University strictly enforces the Proprietary and Non-Disclosure policy. Any unauthorized use or disclosure of stated confidential information will result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination. The University reserves the right to take additional actions based on any breach of this policy as allowable under law.

2.10 HIRING OF RELATIVES

The employment of relatives in the same area of an organization may cause serious conflicts and problems with favoritism and employee morale. In addition to claims of partiality in treatment at work, personal conflicts from outside the work environment can be carried into day-to-day working relationships. The University reserves the right to make all decisions regarding the hiring of relatives and all reporting lines at its sole discretion on a case-by-case basis.

Typically, relatives of persons currently employed by the University may be hired only if they will not be working directly for or supervising a relative. University employees cannot be transferred into such a reporting relationship. Executive Management will make the determination, at its sole discretion, of the hire and/or position approval and related reporting relationship.

If the relative relationship is established after employment, the individuals concerned will be allowed to decide who will continue in his or her current position. The other employee may seek transfer out of the unit or department or apply for another open position; however, no position is guaranteed.

In other cases where a conflict or the potential for conflict arises, even if there is no supervisory relationship involved, the parties may be separated by reassignment or terminated from employment.

For the purposes of this policy, a relative is any person who is related by blood or marriage, or whose relationship with the employee is similar to that of persons who are related by blood or marriage.

2.11 EMPLOYMENT APPLICATIONS

The University relies upon the accuracy of information contained in the employment application, as well as the accuracy of other data presented throughout the hiring process and employment. Any misrepresentations, falsifications, or material omissions in any of this information or data may result in the University's exclusion of the individual from further consideration for employment or, if the person has been hired, termination of employment.

BACKGROUND CHECKS

All new hires will be required to satisfactorily complete a background check consistent with the responsibilities of the position. The initial background check will be conducted following a candidates offer and acceptance of employment. Employment is contingent upon the satisfactory outcome of the background check.

Certain designated categories and groups of positions may also be subject to annual background checks following the initial background check, at the sole discretion of the University.

2.12 WORKPLACE SCHEDULE AND LOCATION DESIGNATION

All Employees (Faculty and Staff) are subject to the University's policy on workplace determination. The Employee's work schedule and normal place of business (workplace) will be determined by the University at its sole discretion and is subject to change or termination for any reason based on the needs of the University. Employees must seek approval prior to any change of their approved workplace location. Employees who have been hired or otherwise assigned to work off campus will be required to sign a Home-Based Work Agreement.

The University restricts new hires and employee transfers in certain states as listed below; however, this list is subject to change as additional states may be included from time to time. Employees are not permitted to work outside the U.S. due to foreign business/employment restrictions. Employees considering moving from their designated workplace must seek approval from both the Department or School and HR prior to any change of workplace to determine if the proposed address/workplace change will affect their employment relationship with the University. Consideration will be based on the restricted states currently in effect at the time of the request.

Employees who resided in a restricted state prior to 01/01/2023 were allowed to continue employment at their designated work location, as determined by the needs of the University.

Employees working off campus must perform their remote duties in their designated, approved home-based location. No remote work may be performed at an alternate location for any length of time without the express written permission of the Department or School. Typically, performing work outside the employee's normal place of business (workplace) in a restricted state requires the authorization of both the Department or School and HR. Attendance for a conference, training, or similar events do not require HR approval. Positions requiring travel to all states (including both restricted and non-restricted states) to perform the routine travel duties of the job as indicated on the position job description, will not need authorization from HR for short periods to perform those identified position duties, such as: recruiters, employees performing travel duties with Athletics or similar event participation, or others with definitive travel duties.

The list of restricted employment workplaces includes, but is not limited to, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, District of Columbia, Hawaii, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, New Jersey, New York, Nevada, Oregon, Rhode Island, Washington; all U.S. territories, and any foreign country.

Employees who have questions regarding this policy specific to movement from their normal place of business, questions pertaining to temporary work in a restricted state or country, or any other request for clarification of the policy should contact their Department or School and HR.

2.13 NEW EMPLOYEE ONBOARDING AND ORIENTATION

The University conducts a comprehensive onboarding and orientation program for all new full-time, benefited employees. Orientations will take place every other Monday. New hires scheduled to begin work on a Monday designated for orientation will be scheduled for orientation on their first workday; all others will be scheduled for the first orientation following their first day of work.

The purpose of the employee orientation is to introduce new employees to the University Mission and purpose and familiarize them with the culture at Liberty. Additional information on employment policies, performance expectations and other important administrative processes is reviewed as well. These include:

- Completion of the I-9 process, tax elections and other onboarding tasks.
- Introduction of Liberty University's mission, vision, and culture.
- Discussion on the Employee Handbook, highlighting guidelines on employee policy.
- Administrative information such as pay periods, parking, wellness, and Flames Pass.
- Accessing web-based information on areas such as viewing pay checks
- Overview of employee benefits, resources, and programs.

Employees are encouraged to contact Human Resource for any questions they may have regarding any of the areas addressed in the initial employee orientation or who feel they need refreshing on any related area.

Section 3: STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE

3.1 CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT

As a distinctively Christian academic community, members of the Liberty University community are expected to act as ambassadors for Christ. This means conducting themselves not only ethically and in compliance with applicable laws, regulations, and University policies, but also acting with utmost integrity and in a manner that is above reproach in all aspects of their work. This Code of Business Conduct (this "Code") is designed to promote a high standard of ethical conduct for the University's trustees, officers, and employees in the operation of the University and is in addition to specific University policies that prescribe rules for day-to-day conduct.

Shared Expectations

Liberty University is committed to modeling to all how a Christ-centered institution should operate. The University expects its trustees, officers, and employees to exercise good faith in all interactions touching upon their duties to the University. The University expects its trustees, officers, and employees to:

Act with integrity – Trustees, officers and employees are required to act honestly, with each other, with the University and when representing the University, and must do so in compliance with applicable laws, regulations, and University policies. However, the University's expectation of integrity goes beyond any minimum requirements of law or policy and requires faithfulness to the University's moral and Biblical principles.

Be honest and open – Trustees, officers, and employees are required to be honest and free from fraud or deception in their dealings on behalf of the University. Obligations of honesty and transparency apply to financial matters, and records and reports of the University's assets and transactions, as with all University documents, should be accurate, clear, and complete. Obligations of honesty and transparency also require correcting false or misleading statements and records and require responding completely to inquires of investigators and auditors authorized by the University.

Demonstrate good stewardship – Trustees, officers and employees are required to carefully steward the University's resources, using them for the benefit of the University and in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and also without waste or extravagance.

Avoid conflicts of interest – Trustees, officers and employees are required to act in a manner consistent with their responsibilities to the University and to avoid circumstances where their financial or other personal ties to outside organizations could present an actual or potential conflicts of interest. University resources should not be used for personal gain, and when conflicts of interests arise, they must be properly reported.

Protect rights of privacy and confidentiality – Trustees, officers, and employees are required to respect the privacy and confidentiality rights of others. Trustees, officers, and employees are required to safeguard in compliance with applicable legal, contractual, and policy obligations the various types of confidential information they come into possession of in the conduct of their work, including information that relates to students, other community members, personnel records and actions, and financial and contractual arrangements.

Support equity and inclusion – Trustees, officers, and employees are required to foster a culture of Biblical based diversity, equity, and inclusion, showing respect for all members of our community and treating all persons with impartiality, as equals before God. Trustees, officers, and employees may not discriminate on the basis of any legally protected status applicable to Liberty University and should seek righteousness by opposing any such discrimination.

Take responsibility - Trustees, officers, and employees must take responsibility for their own actions.

Trustees, officers, and employees are expected to respect and act in harmony with the University's Statement of Mission and Purpose and its Doctrinal Statement in all that they do on behalf of the University.

Reporting

Trustees, officers, and employees are required to report, in good faith, to the University breaches, or reasonably suspected breaches, of this Code and of other University policies that cover ethical conduct. The University encourages the use of internal resources for reporting conduct, and many of the University's specific policies have provisions for reporting of unethical conduct or conduct that violates law, regulations, or policies. Reports that fall outside of existing policies, or for which there are no specified procedures, should be brought to the attention of the appropriate University administrator (or that administrator's supervisor, when more appropriate). Alternatively, reports of violations or suspected violations can be brought to the attention of the University's Internal Auditor. (Any reports with respect to the University's Internal Auditor should be brought to the

attention of the University's General Counsel.) Trustees, employees, and officers making reports may also choose to use any of the methods below to report any breaches of this Code anonymously:

- in writing to Liberty University, Attn: Internal Auditor, 1971 University Blvd. Suite 2618, Lynchburg, VA 24515; or
- by accessing the independent third-party reporting service, Convercent, at
 Convercent.com/report and submitting a message. The website is managed by an outside,
 independent service provider. Individuals submitting reports are able to submit a report on an
 anonymous and confidential basis and are not required to divulge their name.

All reports that relate to alleged breaches of this Code by the President, General Counsel, Chief Financial Officer, or Internal Auditor will be promptly disclosed to the Chair of the Audit Committee of the Board, who will direct the process for investigating and addressing such complaints.

This Code is not intended to be a substitute for the University's processes for addressing complaints under the University's applicable human resources policies, for reporting problems with colleagues, co-workers, or supervisors, for filing complaints of employment discrimination or harassment, for requesting accommodations or medical exceptions, for student requests for refunds, for student complaints and appeals regarding grades or other student-related academic issues, for health and safety complaints, for NCAA rule violations and for Title IX concerns and violations, all of which should be handled in accordance with the University's other policies, including as set forth in current employee and faculty handbooks. Those polices are designed to provide individuals with certain procedural protections appropriate to the nature of such complaints.

No Retaliation

Trustees, officers, and employees who come forward in good faith with reports about potential violations of this Code by others whether the report is specifically under this Code or otherwise made to an appropriate University administrator, or who participate in a resulting investigation in good faith, shall not be subject to retaliation for making such a report or participating in such investigation.

"Good faith" when reporting under this Code means an actual and reasonable belief that a breach of this Code has or may have occurred. A report is not in good faith if it is made maliciously, with knowledge that the report is false, with reckless disregard for the truth of the report, or with willful ignorance of facts that would disprove the allegation.

Procedures and Other Policies¹

University employees who have questions about the application of this Code to a particular situation should seek advice from the General Counsel. This Code is not intended to modify or limit the applicability or enforcement of specific University policies. Trustees, officers, and employees

should be aware of and comply with the specific University policies that apply to their roles, including applicable employee or faculty handbooks, codes of conducts for particular schools, or departments, policies on conflicts of interest and commitment and whistleblower policies. Questions about the interactions of multiple policies should be directed to a supervisor or the General Counsel.

This Code is a statement of certain fundamental principles, policies and procedures that govern Trustees, officers, and employees in the conduct of the University's business. It is not intended to and does not create any rights in any employee, customer, supplier, competitor, or any other person or entity.

3.2 HARMONIOUS, EFFICIENT WORKING PRACTICES

Our commitment to each other and those we serve requires that all employees of the University abide by certain standards and policies. The University expects all employees to perform their duties competently, responsibly, and professionally. In addition, the University expects all employees to be reliable and conscientious in their relationships with customers/students, management, co-workers, vendors, and the public. In interacting with these others, every employee serves as a representative of Liberty University and is therefore obligated to personify the University's beliefs by modeling conduct in keeping with the Christian faith. This personification is a vital religious function essential to carry out the core Christian mission of Liberty University to train champions for Christ who will live out their faith no matter their career or life calling. In keeping with our Philosophy of Education, Statement of Mission and Purpose, and Statement of Doctrine, employees must minister the Christian faith through their work to students, co-workers, vendors, and the public with whom they come in contact, no matter their mix of duties because our lives preach our beliefs and teach our faith more loudly than any creed. These policies have also been established to promote harmonious, efficient working practices. Failure to observe any established rules and practices may lead to disciplinary action, up to and including immediate termination, whether noted in this Handbook or not.

The University's normal performance management practice is to help the employee identify problems and provide guidance for improving performance and behavior should performance issues arise. The specific disciplinary action will normally be based on an assessment of the offense, the circumstances, and previous records.

While there are no guarantees, typically employees will receive verbal and/or written notice from their supervisor or department head of those infractions and performance issues the University considers correctible in order to provide the employee with the opportunity to take corrective measures. However, the University reserves the right to take whatever disciplinary measures it feels are appropriate, including immediate termination; if in the judgment of management, the employee's conduct and/or performance cannot be corrected or seriously threatens the wellbeing of the University, its Mission, or other employees or students.

The primary purpose of the disciplinary system is to correct improper behavior and/or performance. Examples of offenses for which an employee will be disciplined include, but are <u>not</u> limited to:

- Unsatisfactory performance
- Failure to maintain job related certifications, licensing, and training requirements
- Unlawful harassment
- Involvement with rumors, gossip, or inappropriate information (including social media) which inhibits the smooth functioning of the University or creates a poor image of the University
- Excessive absence or lateness
- Sleeping on the job during working hours
- Deliberate threats of violence or injury to another person

- Theft of University property or that of other employees or students/customers (this includes any unapproved removal of University items considered as "scrap and waste")
- Drug or alcohol use on the job
- Neglect, misuse, or willful destruction of University property
- Conduct which disrupts business activities or actions detrimental to the University
- Denial of birth sex by self-identification with a different gender
- Engaging in sexual relations outside of a biblically-ordained marriage between a natural-born man and a natural-born woman
- Insubordination the refusal by an employee to follow management's instructions concerning a job-related matter
- Confrontation with management, coworkers, or in the presence of students or use of abusive language
- Inappropriate discussions within the workplace
- Excessive personal use of the telephone or other University property
- Violating a confidence, unauthorized release of confidential information
- Possession of an unapproved weapon on University property or work sites during work hours
- Participation in any form of illegal gambling on University property, work sites or during work hours
- Falsifying any University record or report such as an application for employment, expense report, financial reports, time records, or shipping or receiving records
- Certain felony or misdemeanor charges and/or convictions that affect an employee's ability to
 perform his or her duties, or could constitute negligence in regard to the University's duty to the
 public, other employees, or students
- Violation of any University policy, safety, or health standard
- Tobacco use, such as smoking, smokeless tobacco, and vapor cigarette devices, are prohibited on University property
- Misuse of a University credit card or other University resources
- Maintain job required fit for duty standards where applicable

These examples are not intended to be all-inclusive and are illustrative only.

All employees of the University are expected to conduct themselves in matters of language and morality in a manner compatible with the Mission of the University and its Statement of Doctrine. Unsuitable conduct may be grounds for disciplinary action, suspension, and up to and including termination.

Certain departments and schools may have additional performance requirements and disciplinary processes based on departmental or school certification, licensing, or regulatory criteria.

3.3 QUALITY OF WORK

All employees' work must consistently demonstrate high quality accuracy and thoroughness in accordance with standards set forth by management. Failure to maintain good work quality or an appropriate level of work quantity may result in disciplinary action up to and including immediate termination.

In addition to performance that can be measured in terms of quantity and quality of work or output, satisfactory performance also includes all other overall aspects of work habits such as dependability in completing work assignments, presence and punctuality at work, attitude toward other employees, supervisors, and customers/students, representing the University in a positive manner, following all University policies, and cooperation in the team effort of completing a job.

Likewise, if performance, work habits, overall attitude, conduct, or demeanor become unsatisfactory, the employee will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including immediate termination.

3.4 DRUG AND ALCOHOL USE

The welfare and success of the University depends on the physical and psychological health of all its employees. The abuse of drugs and alcohol poses a serious threat to both the University, its students, and other employees. The University is committed to providing a drug-free, healthy, safe, and efficient workplace for its employees. For that purpose, the University has adopted these policies:

- The University complies with federal law and prohibits unlawful manufacture, sale, purchase, transfer, dispensation, distribution, possession, or use of any illegal substance (including marijuana or any other cannabis product containing tetrahydrocannabinol -THC) while on University property (including vehicles and equipment), while conducting business on behalf of the University, or when representing the University at any location is strictly prohibited. Violation of this policy will result in termination, and may result in further criminal charges.
- The possession and use of any federal or state-controlled substance, including alcohol and any form of cannabis (marijuana or any other cannabis product containing tetrahydrocannabinol THC) while on University business, or on the premises of any of its property, while operating a University vehicle/equipment, or while representing the University at any location is prohibited and will constitute grounds for termination. While an employee will not be discharged, disciplined, or discriminated against due to possessing a physician prescribed medical marijuana card under state law, the possession, use, or while conducting business under the influence of marijuana applies as noted above and is strictly prohibited and enforced.
- Nothing in this policy is meant to prohibit the appropriate use of over-the-counter medication or other medication that can legally be prescribed under both federal and state law (and that has been prescribed by a physician for the employee's medical use), to the extent that it does not impair an employee's job performance or safety or the safety of others. Employees who take over-the-counter medication or other medication prescribed by a physician for their personal medical use that can legally be prescribed under both federal and state law should inform their supervisor if they believe the medication will impair their job performance, safety, or the safety of others. The University retains the right to determine if an employee's performance has been seriously impaired or affects the workplace adversely.

Employees are directed to notify Human Resources immediately of any criminal charge for a drug-related (including alcohol or marijuana) activity occurring in the workplace, while on University business, or at any other time. Failure to inform the University of any criminal charge (including criminal charges other than drug-related or alcohol-related charges) may lead to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.

Based on the Mission and reputation of the University, any employee who is charged with a felony may be placed on administrative leave without pay, and may be terminated based on conviction of such charges or receipt of other evidence that the University, in its discretion deems sufficient. Employees are required to notify their supervisor/department head and Human Resources in the event they receive a DUI traffic violation charge. The report must be made the next working day after receiving such charge prior to beginning work.

Drug and Alcohol Testing

The University does not conduct pre-employment or random drug testing with the exception of certain designated positions as required under law in the Transit and Transportation Departments as well as certain positions requiring Commercial Drivers Licenses (CDL) and other positions designated as a safety

Drug and alcohol screening may be required at the discretion of HR in the following events:

Reasonable Cause: An employee who appears to be unfit to perform his or her normal duties may be required to submit to a drug or alcohol test. Reasonable cause will be based on observation sufficient to lead a prudent supervisor and a second member of the University's management to suspect that the employee is not fit for work duty. By way of example, but without limitation, any of the following conditions may comprise reasonable cause:

- Unexplained inability to perform normal job functions.
- Slurred speech.
- Smell of alcohol on breath.
- Any unusual lack of physical coordination or loss of equilibrium.
- Questionable behavior.

Any supervisor believing that there is reasonable cause to require an employee to submit to a drug or alcohol test shall immediately notify HR who will request a second member of management to observe the employee's behavior. If it is determined that reasonable cause exists, the following procedures shall be promptly followed:

- The supervisor will advise the employee of the determination to request a drug test and will arrange to have the employee transported to the University's designated Employee Medical Services to conduct the necessary testing.
- If the employee refuses to be tested, the supervisor will remind the employee that he or she is required to submit to testing under University policy, and that refusal to do so constitutes insubordination. If the employee still refuses, he or she will not be forced to have a test administered, but will immediately be suspended from duty and will either be asked to leave the premises or transported home (based on circumstances) pending review and possible termination.
- The supervisor will document in writing the facts constituting reasonable cause that the employee is under the influence of alcohol or drugs. This documentation will be signed by the Supervisor and a second observer.

<u>Post-Accident Testing</u>: Any employee involved in a work-related accident (such as damage done by the operation of any motor vehicle) may be required to submit to a drug or alcohol test. The testing procedure will be handled as outlined above. In the event of serious injury, prudent judgment must be used by the supervisor as to when the drug or alcohol test is administered.

The University reserves the unqualified right, in its sole discretion, to require any employee whose job performance is impaired because of the use of alcohol or any drug, including prescribed or over-the-counter drugs (whether used at work or otherwise) to be sent home. It may also be grounds for discipline, up to and including termination.

3.5 PROCEDURES FOR REPORTING DISCRIMINATION, HOSTILE ENVIRONMENT, HARASSMENT, AND SEXUAL MISCONDUCT

Liberty University is committed to providing a safe and non-discriminatory learning, living, and working environment for all members of the University community. The *Discrimination, Harassment, and Sexual Misconduct Policy* (the Policy) is a key component of effectuating the University's mission and its obligations under the law. A copy of the Policy may be found in full <a href="https://example.com/here-en/block-new-community-comm

In accordance with Liberty's Christian values and its role as an educational institution, The University condemns the following which are collectively defined as Prohibited Conduct, as well as individually defined, in the Policy:

- Discrimination
- Harassment (Non-Sexual)
- Sex-Based Harassment
 - o Quid Pro Quo
 - o Unwelcome Conduct
 - Sexual Assault
 - Dating Violence
 - o Domestic Violence
 - Stalking
 - o Sexual Exploitation
- Other Civil Rights Offenses
 - o Threats/Harm
 - o Hazing
 - Bullying
 - Intimidation
 - Complicity
- Retaliation
- False Reporting

The Policy is enforced by the Office of Equity & Compliance. For Formal Complaints of Sex-Based Harassment, the Executive Vice President for Human Resources will appoint a trained Hearing Officer to conduct a hearing to determine whether Sexual Harassment occurred. For Formal Complaints of Prohibited Conduct that do not involve Sexual Harassment, determinations of responsibility and sanctions will be made by the assigned Investigator. Please see the Policy for the full list of procedures for resolving Reports and Formal Complaints of Prohibited Conduct.

Mandatory Reporting

All employees are responsible for knowing and following the Policy. In addition, all Residential Faculty and Deans, Online Faculty and Deans, Athletic Coaches (NCAA & Club Sports), Residential Assistants, Residential Directors, LUPD, Office of Community Life staff are Responsible Employees who are required to report immediately any information they know about known or suspected Prohibited Conduct. Responsible Employees must immediately report all known information, including the identities of the Parties; the date, time, and location; and other details about known or suspected Prohibited Conduct to the OEC. The OEC may share its Reports and Formal Complaints with LUPD and the Review Committee to ensure a coordinated institutional response. Consistent with applicable law, Responsible Employees may also provide support and assistance to a Complainant, Witness, or Respondent; but they cannot promise confidentiality or withhold information about Prohibited Conduct from the OEC.

Responsible Employees are not required to report information disclosed (1) at public awareness events (e.g., "Take Back the Night," candlelight vigils, protests, "survivor speak-outs," or other public forums in which students may disclose Prohibited Conduct (collectively, public awareness events)); or (2) during a person's participation as a subject in an Institutional Review Board-approved human subjects research protocol ("IRB Research"). The University may provide information about a person's rights under this Policy and about available University and community resources and support at public awareness events, however, and Institutional Review Boards may, in appropriate cases, require researchers to provide such information to subjects of IRB Research who report Prohibited Conduct.

Reporting Prohibited Conduct

Any person may report Prohibited Conduct (whether or not the person reporting is the alleged victim). Reports of Prohibited Conduct, including Discrimination and Harassment, can be submitted or received through the following University channels: Liberty University SpeakUP! Form; a Beacon Incident Report; Walk-In/Appointment with the Senior Vice President of University Compliance

/Title IX Coordinator, an Investigator, or a Deputy Coordinator; an email from a Responsible Employee to the OEC, the Title IX Coordinator, an Investigator, or a Deputy Coordinator on the Complainant's behalf; an email, letter, or telephone call to the OEC, the Title IX Coordinator, an Investigator, or a Deputy Coordinator. Reports and Formal Complaints of Prohibited Conduct may be made at any time (including non-business hours). Reports of Prohibited Conduct can also be made to LUPD or to local law enforcement at the contact information above, but such reports will be handled pursuant to law enforcement procedures and not necessarily pursuant to this Policy.

No person will suffer Retaliation as a result of engaging in protected activity under the Policy. Protected activity generally includes filing a complaint of Prohibited Conduct, participating in any related process or otherwise opposing unlawful discriminatory conduct. See Section 5.5 of the Policy for the full definition of Retaliation, including examples of protected activities.

For more information, please refer to the Policy at the link above or contact the Title IX Coordinator or his/her designee at the information provided below:

Ashley Reich

Senior Vice President of University Compliance

Kasey Smith

TIX Coordinator

Emma Moulder

Deputy TIX Coordinator for Intake and Support

Lukas Hafeli

Deputy TIX Coordinator for Discrimination and Resolutions

Call: (434) 592-4999

E-mail: oec@liberty.edu

To file a report or complaint, you may do so online here.

3.6 WHISTLEBLOWER

Affected Parties

All members of the University community, including trustees, officers, employees, students, volunteers, alumni, suppliers, and contractors ("Covered Persons").

Policy

The University is committed to leadership and actions that are above reproach, accountable, and demonstrate good stewardship. Community members are expected to exercise good faith in all transactions touching upon their duties to the University. Accordingly, all members of the University community are encouraged, acting in Good Faith (defined below) and without fear of retaliation, to report suspected Wrongful Conduct (defined below) in the manner provided in this policy.

For purposes of this policy, "<u>Good Faith</u>" means an actual and reasonable belief that Wrongful Conduct has or may have occurred. A report is not in Good Faith if it is made maliciously, with knowledge that the report is false, with reckless disregard for the truth of the report, or with willful ignorance of facts that would disprove the allegation.

For purposes of this policy, "Wrongful Conduct" includes:

- Violation of applicable state and federal laws, rules, and regulations, including, but not limited to, corruption, malfeasance, bribery, theft, fraudulent claims, fraud, or conversion;
- Improper accounting, improper financial reporting, and internal fraud;
- A material or repeated failure to comply with a written and published University policy, including
 the Liberty University Board of Trustees Policy on Conflicts of Interest and Commitment for
 Senior Officers and Executives, the Liberty University Board of Trustees Policy on Conflicts of
 Interest for Trustees, or other policies that require investigation or resolution of complaints or
 that require compliance with financial controls;
- A failure to comply with a University policy that has a mandatory reporting requirement (e.g., Liberty University Discrimination, Harassment, and Sexual Misconduct Policy and the Employee Mandatory Reporting Requirements for Child Abuse and Neglect in the Employee Handbook);
- Use of University property, resources, or authority for personal gain for oneself, personal gain for others, or other non-University related purpose except as provided under University policy;
- Authorizing or receiving compensation for services not received or services not performed,

including authorizing or receiving compensation for hours not worked;

- Authorizing or requesting reimbursement for expenses not incurred;
- Gross mismanagement, including acts or omissions that constitute or create a substantial risk of significant adverse impact on the mission of the University;
- Gross waste of funds, including use of funds significantly out of proportion to objective benefit, even given reasonable exercise of legitimate discretion;
- Abuse of authority, including arbitrary decisions for personal gain, to injure others, and/or to benefit Family Members or Close Personal Relationships (each as defined in the Liberty University Board of Trustees Policy on Anti-Nepotism for Senior Officers and Executives);
- Acts or omissions that constitute or create a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety; and
- Unauthorized invasion, alteration, manipulation or destruction of records and computer files, or forgery of documents.

The items listed above are not intended to limit the reporting of particular matters, and matters not specifically listed above may still be reported. However, this policy is <u>not</u> intended to be a substitute for the University's processes for addressing complaints under the University's applicable human resources policies, for reporting problems with colleagues, co-workers, supervisors, or students, for filing complaints of discrimination or harassment, for requesting accommodations or medical exceptions, for student requests for refunds, for student complaints and appeals regarding grades or other student-related academic issues, for health and safety complaints, for NCAA rule violations and for Title IX concerns and violations, all of which should be handled in accordance with the University's other policies, including as set forth in current employee and faculty handbooks and student conduct codes. Those policies are designed to provide individuals with certain procedural protections appropriate to the nature of such complaints.

This policy is not intended to apply to reports of concern over how a faculty or staff member is performing his/her job duties where the conduct in question does not rise to the level of Wrongful Conduct. Covered Persons who are concerned about the conduct of a University faculty or staff member that does not rise to the level of Wrongful Conduct (e.g., concern about the style or manner in which the faculty or staff member is performing his/her job duties) are encouraged to discuss these concerns with the person whose conduct is the subject of concern. If a Covered Person does not feel comfortable talking directly with the faculty or staff member whose conduct is the subject of concern, the concerned party is encouraged to talk with the faculty or staff member's supervisor or another senior administrator.

Reporting

General Reporting

Any Covered Person may report allegations of Wrongful Conduct. Reports should contain as much specific factual information as possible to allow for proper assessment of the allegation, but the person reporting the information should generally avoid speculation and should not take on the

role of an investigator or seek evidence to which they do not have a right of access. In addition, all reports should contain sufficient information to support the commencement of an investigation. For example, to the extent possible, reports should include the names of individuals suspected of violations, the relevant facts of the violations, how the reporting person became aware of the violations, who may be harmed or affected by the violations and any corroborating information or evidence (e.g., notes, pictures, text or chat messages, e-mails, etc.).

Reports of Wrongful Conduct in accordance with this policy should be made to the University's Internal Auditor. Reports of Wrongful Conduct in accordance with this policy that relate to the University Internal Auditor should be made to the University's General Counsel.

The Internal Auditor and Office of Internal Audit can be reached at:

Liberty University
Attn: Internal Auditor
1971 University Blvd. Suite 2618
Lynchburg, VA 24515 _
whistleblower@liberty.edu

For reports involving the Internal Auditor, the General Counsel can be reached at:

Liberty University Attn: General Counsel 1971 University Blvd. Lynchburg, VA 24515. legalaffairs@liberty.edu

Anonymous Reporting

Covered Persons making reports may also choose to use any of the methods below to report any Wrongful Conduct anonymously:

- in writing to Liberty University, Attn: Internal Auditor, 1971 University Blvd. Suite 2618, Lynchburg, VA 24515; or
- by accessing the independent third party reporting service, Convercent, at Convercent.com/report and submitting a report.

The website is managed by an outside, independent service provider. Covered Persons submitting reports are able to submit a report on an anonymous and confidential basis and are not required to divulge their name. Covered Persons submitting anonymous reports should understand that the anonymity of reports may make it more difficult to proceed with a full investigation.

Reports submitted through the website are provided to the Internal Auditor, and a copy is provided to the University General Counsel.

Confidentiality

Where a report is made anonymously or in confidence, the University will maintain the privacy of the reporting person to the extent practical within the limitations of law and the need to conduct a competent investigation. It is also possible that from time-to-time the identity of reporting persons might become known for reasons beyond the control of the investigators or University administrators. Reporting persons may be interviewed by an investigator to the extent that the University determines it is appropriate. The obligation or expectation of anonymity does not apply in the instance of a self-disclosure. The identity of the subject of an investigation will ordinarily be maintained in confidence subject to the same limitations.

No Retaliation

Covered Persons shall not be subject to retaliation for making a report in Good Faith about potential or actual Wrongful Conduct by others, or participating in an investigation in Good Faith, whether the report is specifically under this policy or otherwise. Covered Persons also shall not be subject to retaliation for reporting Wrongful Conduct to any governmental body or law-enforcement official, for participating in an investigation, hearing, or inquiry at the request of a governmental body or law-enforcement official, or for providing information to or testifying before a governmental body or law-enforcement official conducting an investigation, hearing or inquiry into any alleged violation of federal or state law or regulation by the University. Any Covered Person who believes that he/she is being retaliated against in violation of this policy should immediately report the retaliation, which can be done in the same manner as reporting a claim of Wrongful Conduct provided above, including to the University's Internal Auditor.

Members of the University community may not directly or indirectly use or attempt to use the official authority or influence of their positions or offices for the purpose of interfering with the right of a Covered Person to make a report under this policy.

False Allegations

Protection from retaliation is not intended to protect Covered Persons who make reports under this policy maliciously or in bad faith or know or have reason to know that such a report is false or materially inaccurate from being subject to disciplinary action, including in the case of employees, reprimand, suspension, demotion, or under appropriate circumstances, termination, and in the case of students, referral under the applicable student conduct code.

Policy Rationale

The University is committed to leadership and actions that are above reproach, accountable, and demonstrate good stewardship. Individuals must not be subject to retaliation for Good Faith reporting of Wrongful Conduct.

Procedures

The Internal Auditor, in consultation with the University's General Counsel, is charged with adopting specific procedures to receive and assess reports under this policy and to investigate such reports in accordance with appropriate processes and procedures, including communicating with

the person who brought forward the report and concluding the investigation in a timely fashion. The procedures will provide that no individual who is alleged to have participated in Wrongful Conduct will be involved in directing or conducting the investigation of such allegation. The Internal Auditor will regularly report to the Audit Committee of the Board on the adoption of procedures pursuant to this policy. At each regular meeting of the Audit Committee, the Internal Auditor will report on the receipt and resolution of reports under this policy.

All reports received by the Internal Auditor that relate to alleged Wrongful Conduct of the President, General Counsel, Chief Financial Officer or Internal Auditor, or that relate to accounting, internal control or auditing matters, must be promptly disclosed to the Chair of the Audit Committee of the Board, who will bring the matter to the Audit Committee for direction on the process for investigating and addressing such reports.

University employees who have questions about the application of this policy to a particular situation should seek advice from the Internal Auditor or the General Counsel. Nothing in this policy is intended to limit the application of any other policy of the University. Questions about the interactions of multiple policies should be directed to the General Counsel.

Covered Persons who violate this policy, including by engaging in retaliation, will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

3.7 WORKPLACE VIOLENCE PREVENTION

The University is committed to preventing workplace violence, and has adopted the following guidelines to deal with intimidation, harassment or threats of (or actual) violence.

All persons—vendors and employees —should always be treated with courtesy and respect. Employees are expected to refrain from fighting, "horseplay" or conduct that may be dangerous to others. Conduct that threatens, intimidates, or coerces another employee, a customer/student or a member of the public at any time, including off-duty periods, will not be tolerated.

All threats of violence or acts of violence, both direct and indirect, are to be reported as soon as possible to LUPD and management. This includes threats by employees, as well as threats by customers/students, vendors, or other members of the public. When reporting a threat of violence, be specific.

Suspicious individuals or activities should also be reported to LUPD and Human Resources as soon as possible. Employees should not place themselves in peril by approaching a suspicious or potentially threatening person or situation.

The University will promptly and thoroughly investigate all reports of threats of (or actual) violence and of suspicious individuals or activities. The identity of the individual making a report will be protected as much as is practical. In order to maintain workplace safety and the integrity of its investigation, the University may suspend an employee allegedly perpetrating an act in violation of policy, either with or without pay, pending investigation, as it deems necessary.

Anyone determined to be responsible for threats of (or actual) violence or other conduct that is in violation of these guidelines will be subject to prompt disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.

3.8 PROFESSIONAL DRESS CODE

Employees shall dress in a manner appropriate to their position, safety, and environment. Dress, grooming, and personal cleanliness contribute to the morale of all employees and affect the business image that the University projects. During business hours and while representing the University, employees are expected to present a clean, neat, and tasteful appearance. They should dress and groom themselves according to the requirements of their position and University guidelines. This is particularly true when an employee's job involves safety issues or dealing directly with customers specifically or the public in general. Proper grooming includes:

Personal Hygiene – Employees will maintain the highest standards of personal cleanliness and hygiene at all times.

Hair, Beards, and Mustaches – should be conservative, clean, combed, and neatly trimmed or arranged. Shaggy, unkempt hair is not permissible regardless of length.

No articles of clothing should display messages containing profanity, vulgarity, or improper offensive remarks. Clothing should be clean and well kept, fitting properly, and should not be revealing, clinging or inappropriate to the work place. Department heads will have certain discretion regarding dress based on the functions of the position. Recommended clothing:

Men: Neat slacks, collared or polo shirts, business casual crew neck shirts, sweaters, or other business casual dress.

Women: Business casual dresses, skirts, slacks, blouses, shirts, sweaters, capri cropped pants.

However, there are certain types of clothing that will be unacceptable at any time with the exception of when participating in outside departmental sports or recreational outings/picnics. They are:

Shorts, overalls, warm-up suits, t-shirts, any shirts with inappropriate writing or logos or any clothing that is tight and revealing such as crop-tops and leggings.

Business Casual shoes, jewelry, and other accessories should be appropriate to the job. Jewelry, belts, or any other article that could be a safety hazard should not be worn.

Body piercing ornamentation should be limited when representing the University.

Employees in a forward-facing position should use discretion with revealing (face tattoos, unnatural hair color, piercings) body modifications. University leaders have sole discretion to address an employee who fails to follow the above guidelines.

Employees working in departments such as Athletics, Club Sports, and Recreation requiring sports type apparel may deviate from the clothing standards above but are required to maintain good judgment in their clothing choices to ensure the University's professional image.

While on the job and in situations where one may be representing the University, it is expected that employees will exercise good judgment and professionalism in appearance and action.

Supervisors are responsible for enforcing this policy consistently including counseling employees whose appearance is considered inappropriate or a safety risk. Employees, who continue to disregard this policy, may be asked to go home for a change of clothing, and may not be paid for the time away from work.

Employees must comply with all OSHA safety requirements of the position. Proper protective equipment is provided. Employees must be familiar with and comply with all protective equipment requirements.

Certain employees are required to wear a uniform. The University expects employees to keep their uniforms neat, clean and in good repair.

3.9 OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT

Employees may hold simultaneous employment with another organization after notifying their supervisor, so long as the University determines that an employee's outside work does not interfere with job performance or the ability to meet the requirements and scheduling of the employee's current job (as they are modified from time to time). The University reserves the sole right to ask the employee to terminate the outside employment in the event the outside employment affects the performance of the individual or creates a scheduling problem.

Outside employment that constitutes a conflict of interest is prohibited. Employees may not receive any income or material gain from individuals outside the University for material produced or services rendered while performing their jobs at the University.

3.10 SOCIAL MEDIA

The University complies with the Virginia Employee Social Media Privacy Act, and does not request or require an applicant or employee to disclose their social media account passwords or to provide access to their social media accounts.

The University is committed to promoting Christ-like values and beliefs and affirming such beliefs through the display of any social media content posted by any University employee. If an employee chooses to display their workplace on any social media platform, they may be subject to questioning or discipline regarding any content that is in violation of Liberty's Statement of Doctrine, or University policy including the Code of Business Conduct.

All Liberty employees must abide by the following:

- 1. To represent the University well, use discernment when posting content on personal profiles and commenting on another individuals' profiles, including use of a personal device on personal time.
 - a. Do not make any disparaging statements, or accusations regarding the University, management, students, or other employees that would serve to embarrass or discredit the University or the University's Mission.
 - b. Do not post any prohibited content which includes but is not limited to any vulgar, defaming, illegal, inappropriate, or obscene content that is not consistent with the University's doctrine.
 - c. Do not post any content that is prohibited under University Policy.
 - d. Do not use, alter, change, or distort any Liberty University branding at any time, including but not limited to the LU logo, unless approved by LU Marketing.
- 2. Ensure that social media does not interfere with work productivity, responsibilities, or business effort

It is at the discretion of the University to look up any suspected behavior in violation of this policy at any time. An employee may be asked, for any reason deemed necessary by the University, to remove Liberty University as their designated employer on their social media accounts. Any prohibited content posted on an employee's personal social media account that is discovered during the course of employment is subject to discipline, up to and including termination, depending on the level of questionable content.

Section 4: PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

4.1 PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

All employees must work together to fulfill the mission of Liberty University and performance evaluations help measure the extent to which that occurs. Feedback is an essential part of the process of professional development, and the University encourages employees and supervisors to discuss job performance on a regular basis. Because the University is committed to professional excellence and development, a Performance Management Program has been established. The Performance Management Program is aimed at maximizing an employee's ability to execute his or her job duties and promote job satisfaction, cooperation, professionalism, excellence, and career growth, with the overarching goal of ensuring employees are fulfilling the mission of the University.

Full Time, Regular Employees

Performance evaluations for full-time, regular employees will generally be conducted annually. While performance ratings are an important factor, evaluations are only one factor in the consideration of any pay increase. Completion of an Evaluation is primarily to communicate with the employee regarding his or her level of performance during the year, and not necessarily indicative of any associated pay increase.

Performance evaluations provide a systematic way for each employee to discuss his or her development, to provide input, and receive feedback on their performance.

The performance evaluation discussion will include a review of the quality and productivity of performance and, if applicable, opportunities for professional advancement. All performance reviews will be based on overall performance in relation to job responsibilities and will also take into account conduct, demeanor, and record of attendance.

Performance evaluations will be placed in the employee's permanent personnel file and a copy will be given to the employee.

Employees will be asked to sign the Evaluation to indicate that such evaluation was discussed with the employee. Signing the evaluation does not indicate agreement with the conclusions of the evaluation, but is required to show that the employee was given the review and had the opportunity to discuss with his or her supervisor.

In addition to the regular performance evaluations described above, special written performance evaluations may be conducted at any time to provide performance documentation and feedback to the employee.

Regular Part-Time Employees

Regular part-time employees will be reviewed annually by their supervisor to maintain a high level of communication, while ensuring performance efficiencies.

Contact Human Resources at <a href="https://ht

Temporary Part-Time/Seasonal Employees and Student Workers
Temporary part-time/seasonal employees and student workers will receive periodic reviews by their supervisor to ensure they are receiving adequate feedback in regard to performance standards.

4.2 CAREER MOBILITY

Liberty University's Career Mobility (CM) program is a key aspect of the university's talent management strategy. The University seeks to retain talent by facilitating employees' career development by reducing barriers to internal mobility and by assisting with placement into best-fitting positions. To be eligible to apply for Career Mobility (CM) the employee must meet the following criteria:

- 1. Full time employees must have been in his or her current position for at least one (1) full year; part-time employees must have been in their current position for at least six (6) months.
- 2. Employees must not be on corrective review.

If the employee is not qualified for CM based on one or more of the criteria stated above, the application will be marked as "Not Qualified" and will not be considered for the position(s) for which the employee applied.

Employees applying for open positions through the CM process are not guaranteed preferential treatment but will be considered based on qualifications and skills.

All departments are obligated to release the employee for an alternate position in the university. However, each department has the right to a reasonable length of time to secure a suitable replacement. Typically, the time frame will not exceed 30 days for either hourly or salaried employees. In the event Executive Management determines there are extenuating circumstances which affect the smooth operations of the University, a longer time frame may be required.

To find additional information about CM applications, please visit the Human Resources Career Mobility webpage (https://www.liberty.edu/human-resources/current-employees/career-advancement/).

4.3 EMPLOYEE CONCERNS

It is the policy of the University that all employees have the right to voice their complaints or concerns in a professional manner to the appropriate party. We recognize the meaningful value and importance of full discussion in resolving issues and preserving good relations between management and our employees. Accordingly, we believe that the following procedures will ensure that employment actions or concerns receive full consideration, and expect all employees to follow these procedures, conducting themselves professionally and in a manner that is conducive to resolution of the issue and consistent to the wellbeing of the University.

Step One: An employee with a complaint or concern regarding employment and/or performance actions should initially approach his or her supervisor.

Step Two: In the event the employee feels the issue remains unresolved following discussions with the supervisor, the employee may submit an official grievance in writing to the department head outlining the situation. The department head will respond to the employee in a timely manner.

Step Three: An employee who feels that his or her grievance has not received adequate attention in Step Two may direct the initial grievance and written response to Employee Relations via email employeerelations@liberty.edu or by phone at 434-592-7330. The Director of Employee Relations and/or his designee will review the grievance with the department head and a determination of the matter will be issued. The matter will be reviewed with Executive Management should the issue warrant further consideration.

All decisions are at the sole discretion of Executive Management and will constitute final resolution of the matter. This "Open Door" policy, providing review through layers of management, assures all employees that performance and employment actions are handled in a fair, equitable and consistent manner.

Employees should contact the Human Resources Office directly when the employee believes that either the sensitivity or nature of the issue requires immediate attention by executive management.

4.4 EMPLOYMENT TERMINATION

With the exception of those with current contracts, all University employees are considered at-will. Just as an employee can terminate his or her employment with the University at any time and for any reason, the University can terminate an employee at any time for any reason, with or without prior notice. The University does not guarantee permanent employment or employment for a specific term, nor will the University adhere to or enforce any promises of permanent or specific- term employment made to an employee by any person unless the employee has entered into a contract as a specifically written contract signed by the President or his direct designee.

Terminating full-time staff members will receive all earned pay, including earned but unused vacation pay, by the next normal pay day following the termination date. However, terminated employees are not entitled to pay for unused personal/sick leave. Contracted Faculty members will not be paid out vacation, as are not limited to a certain number of vacation days. Employment with the University is normally terminated based on one of the following actions:

- 1. Resignation or voluntary termination by the employee.
- 2. Dismissal or involuntary termination by the University as provided above.
- 3. Layoff or termination due to a reduction of the workforce or elimination of positions.

An employee desiring to voluntarily terminate employment, regardless of job classification, is expected to give as much resignation notice as possible. Although such advance notice is not required, the University requests at least two weeks' written notice of resignation from nonexempt personnel and four weeks' notice from exempt personnel. If the employee does not provide advance notice as requested, the employee may be considered ineligible for rehire. Should an employee experience serious extenuating circumstances outside the employee's control which inhibits advance notice, such circumstances will be taken into consideration regarding rehire status. Decisions regarding re-hire status remain at the University's sole discretion, and if it is determined that an employee is eligible for re-hire, they will be subject to a 6-month waiting period following their exit date, before they can return to employment at the University

Prior to an employee's departure, Human Resources may schedule an exit interview to discuss the reasons for the resignation. Employees should contact the HR Benefits team at benefits@liberty.edu to discuss any issues pertaining to termination of benefits, change of address or changes to other personal contact information.

Employee's payment elections will remain on file for 30 days after their termination date. An employee's last check will be issued via their designated payment election.

If an employee resigns, the University may, in its sole discretion, determine it is practical for the employee to cease work upon notice rather than completing the resignation period. When such a determination has been made, the University will typically pay "in lieu of notice," up to a maximum of two weeks of pay based upon a 40-hour work week at the employee's straight time rate or salary at the current rate of pay.

In the event a reduction in force is necessary or one or more positions are eliminated, the University retains the right, in its sole discretion, to identify those employees who will be laid off as allowed by law.

An employee's effective termination date will be their last day of work. Employees cannot use accrued vacation, sick, or holiday time to extend the effective termination date, employees must work half of their normal daily schedule.

Section 5: ATTENDANCE, PAYROLL & ADMINISTRATIVE RECORDICEPING

5.1 ATTENDANCE AND PUNCTUALITY

To maintain a productive work environment, the University expects employees to be reliable and punctual in reporting for scheduled work. Consistent attendance is expected, and employees are to be at work and on time according to their assigned scheduled workday. Absenteeism and tardiness place a burden on our respective customers/students, and other team members, and affect the University on many levels. In instances where employees cannot avoid being late to work, or are unable to work as scheduled, they are required to notify the supervisor as soon as possible in advance of the anticipated tardiness or absence.

If an unscheduled absence is unavoidable because of illness, accident, or other cause, the employee is required to communicate directly with his or her supervisor regarding the absence, or to leave a telephone number where the supervisor can contact them. This notification is required by the start of the normal work time and is required for each day of unscheduled absence. Likewise, if an employee knows they will be late coming into work, he or she is required to speak with their supervisor no later than thirty (30) minutes prior to the beginning of the employee's respective work schedule.

Poor attendance and excessive tardiness are disruptive. Either may lead to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.

5.2 HOURS OF WORK

The University's core hours are Monday through Friday from 8:00 a.m. until 5:00 p.m. The employee's scheduled work hours will be assigned in a manner that best provides for the smooth operations of the University. Changes in work schedules will be announced as far in advance as possible. Many job classifications will have normal working hours that differ from regular core business hours and should strictly abide by departmental requirements.

Flexibility in these standard hours may be needed to meet business and/or work process requirements. While we try to avoid asking employees to work beyond their normal working hours, employees may be required to work beyond their normal hours based on the operations of the University. Employees will be given as much advance notice as possible. Overtime will be paid to nonexempt employees but must be pre-approved by the supervisor. Normal business hours may be modified from time to time to adapt to seasonal influences or other business reasons. These will be temporary and will not require changes to this Handbook.

Exempt employees working core hours from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. are allowed one hour for a meal break. Nonexempt employees and high-demand seasonal employees receive an unpaid 30 minute or one hour lunch break, based on the employee's workday schedule.

5.3 INDIVIDUAL WORK SCHEDULES

Individual work schedules will be determined by specific job function and/or work site schedules and will be assigned accordingly by the supervisor and must be approved by the department head and communicated to Human Resources. The University reserves the right to change an employee's normal schedule based on the needs of the Department.

Typically, the University does not offer temporary flexible work schedules; however, under certain conditions, a temporary flexible schedule may be established and approved by the University within the limits prescribed by law, and based on operating conditions and requirements of the University so long as such schedule does not diminish operational effectiveness or create an overtime liability that would not otherwise occur. Each employee should consistently observe the schedule agreed upon.

Working from Home

Working remotely is permitted only by pre-approval of the department head and Human Resources.

Office Devotions

Office devotions are encouraged to give the employees of individual offices the opportunity to meet once a week for spiritual enrichment with fellow employees. It is suggested that weekly devotionals be incorporated into regular office staff meetings.

5.4 TIMEKEEPING

Accurately recording time worked is the responsibility of every nonexempt employee. Federal and state laws require the University to keep an accurate record of time worked in order to calculate employee pay and benefits. Time worked is all the time actually spent on the job performing assigned duties. The work week begins on Sunday at 12 midnight and ends on Saturday at 11:59 p.m.

Nonexempt employees must record all time in Workday at the beginning and ending of each day, as well as the beginning and ending time of each meal period. They should also record the beginning and ending of any departure from work for personal reasons. Overtime work must always be approved before it is performed.

Nonexempt employees are required to review their time entries in Workday and submit it to their Workday Time and Absence Approver each Monday for the previous week by 4:00 PM.

Nonexempt employees should record all time worked in Workday as follows:

- Time an employee actually begins work (time at the regular work location prior to the actual start of
 work is not considered compensable time) Travel to and from the normal place of work is not
 compensable
- Time of lunch break (when it begins and ends based on related schedule and policy)
- Time the employee stops work for the day (regular schedule, unless otherwise preapproved to work outside normal hours

Altering, falsifying, tampering with time records, or recording time on another employee's time record will result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

In addition, if corrections or modifications are made to the time record, both the employee and the supervisor must verify the accuracy of the changes.

Meal Breaks

The employee's designated regular schedule will be the determining factor regarding the amount of time provided, and normally required each work day under policy, for the unpaid lunch break. No employee should work over the 40-hour work week (including working through a lunch break) without prior approval from the supervisor. Employees should record when they leave for the lunch break and when they return from the lunch break.

For example,

- A nonexempt employee working a schedule of 8 a.m. to 5 p.m. each day is normally required to take a one-hour unpaid lunch break, which equates to a 40-hour work week
- A nonexempt employee working a schedule of 8 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. each day is normally required to take a half-hour unpaid lunch break, which equates to a 40-hour work week
- Or any other schedule or shift that nets a regular 8-hour day/40-hour work week

Travel time during normal routine work hours or single-day work travel

- Travel time as a passenger or while driving a vehicle to any location required outside the normal place of work in the performance of regular work duties is compensable during normal working hours
- Travel time while driving a vehicle in the performance of an employee's required, preapproved job duties outside normal working hours is considered compensable
- Travel time to and from the normal work place is not considered compensable time
- Travel time while a passenger (other than normal business hours) is not considered compensable time unless the employee is required to perform work during the travel

Travel Time Out of Town and Overnight

- Travel time as a passenger or while driving a vehicle to any location required outside the normal place of work is compensable during normal working hours.
- Travel time out of town and overnight is compensable outside normal working hours only if the employee is required to perform work duties in association with that travel time (Such as team supervision, driver, etc).
- Time is paid only for that portion of time spent in actual work production; time for rest periods or overnight sleep, time for snack or meal breaks, is not normally considered work time and is not compensable.

Conferences/Meetings (Required, work-related as required by the department head)

- Employees will be paid their normal rate of pay for normal working hours for time considered work while a participating at meetings/conferences
- No time will be paid for meal breaks or attendance in any nonwork related sessions such as planned social or agenda breakfast, lunch, dinner, etc.
- Travel time will be paid for travel during normal work hours/normal work week
- Travel time will be paid for driving to and from the event if it is away from the normal place of business
- No travel time will be paid while a passenger is outside the normal work hours/normal work week

Ancillary Conferences/Meetings (Work related, but at employee's voluntary discretion)

- Employees may be required to use vacation (or may be paid for the time in attendance based on preapproval of the department head) as a participant at a conference or meeting
- No additional time will be paid or considered as overtime

For questions about overtime or timekeeping procedures, please contact Payroll at lupayroll@liberty.edu

5.5 OVERTIME

Regular Overtime

Nonexempt employees are eligible for overtime for all time actually worked (including paid holiday time for full-time employees) over 40 hours in any single work week paid at one and one-half times the hourly rate in effect when the overtime work is performed. Employees must have approval from the supervisor **prior** to working any overtime.

If a nonexempt employee works over the normal 40-hour work week without prior approval, the employee will be paid for that time, but may be disciplined for not complying with University policy. Disciplinary actions for infractions of this policy will be based on the circumstances and totality of the infraction, up to and including termination for negligent disregard of the policy.

Time recorded but not included in "actual work" performed in the work week, whether the hours are paid or unpaid, will not count toward the calculation for overtime pay:

- Vacation
- Sick Leave
- Leaves of absence such as FMLA, Military Leave, Administrative leave, Jury duty
- Meal breaks
- Travel outside normal business hours/travel as a passenger (except as outlined below)
- Voluntary, non-work related, non-required, attendance/participation in ancillary functions
- Special closings of any type

^{*}Holiday time will count toward the calculation for overtime pay for full-time employees.

5.6 MINISTRY AND CONVOCATION

All employees are in service to Liberty University which is a ministry. The ministerial role for each employee is crucial to the overall ministry of LU, with employees being messengers of the gospel. Employees are expected to model for students how to be Christ-like. Praying with coworkers and students is encouraged and is centric to LU's mission and culture.

Liberty University is the world's largest gathering of Christian students and employees. Convocation is an assembly of the University community for the purposes of worshipping, building unity, disseminating information, and providing forums for the socio-political issues of the day and other educational topics of diverse interest for the benefit of students and staff. Guest speakers from the worlds of business, politics, education, the sciences, and religion, talented staff members, music, and timely messages from our President and other executives help make Convocation a refreshing and challenging time. Convocation is held on Wednesday and Friday mornings at 10:30 a.m. Employees are availed the opportunity to attend Convocation, as regularly as possible.

5.7 SEVERE INCLEMENT WEATHER, DISASTER, OR EMERGENCY CLOSINGS

In the event of severe inclement weather or a disaster/emergency situation, the President or his designee will determine the operational status of the campus. In the event that such an emergency occurs during non-working hours, television stations (including WSET, WDBJ, and WSLS) will be notified and will broadcast appropriate announcements regarding University operations. The University's Splash (myLU) page and Campus Alert System will also provide information regarding the operational status of the campus. To sign up for campus alerts, click here.

Official University Closure Defined

The policy covers any period in which the official status of the University campus is closed due to severe inclement weather, disaster, or other emergency as designated by the President of the institution. For the purposes of this policy, any period in which the University is officially closed includes delayed opening, early closure, and closed for an entire day or days.

Critical Functions

Certain critical functions must be maintained in the event of severe inclement weather, disaster, or other emergency. These critical functions include providing basic services for the students living on campus. When the University is officially closed as provided under this policy, essential personnel whose duties include performing these critical functions must report to work.

Essential Personnel

For the purposes of this policy, essential personnel typically reside within the LU Police Department, Maintenance, Grounds, and Custodial staff, snow removal personnel, and others as designated by the department head/dean or their designee who may be needed to perform essential or critical functions.

Non-Essential Personnel

For the purposes of this policy, non-essential personnel are those employees who are not required to perform essential or critical functions during periods when the University is officially closed or is preparing for severe inclement weather, disaster, or other emergency.

Announcements

When an event or events occur requiring the official closure of the University due to severe inclement weather, disaster, or other emergency, one of the following announcements may be made:

1-Hour Delay

• Essential personnel must report to work, all non-essential personnel report one (1) hour after normal operating hours, no later than 9am. A 1- hour delay would signify that the first class of the school day would be canceled regardless of the day of the week.

2-Hour Delay

• Essential personnel must report to work, all non-essential personnel report two (2) hours after normal operating hours, no later than 10am. A 2-hour delay would signify that the first 2 classes of the school day would be canceled regardless of the day of the week.

<u>Closed – Weather Policy in effect</u>

• Essential personnel are required to report to work when the University is officially closed for severe inclement weather, disaster, or emergency. Non-essential personnel are not to report to duty unless approved in advance by their department supervisor.

Early Closing

• In the event that the University is closed early, employees will be notified when the official work day ends. Hourly employees wanting to be compensated for lost time are required to submit an absence request through Workday requesting a personal or vacation day.

Compensation when the University is Officially Closed

When the University is officially closed for any portion of a day or days as a described in this policy, employees will be compensated as follows:

- **Essential employees** will be compensated for the actual clock hours worked during any period when the University is officially closed.
- Non-essential employees will be compensated in accordance with applicable federal and state regulations, including the federal Fair Labor Standards Act, and University policy as follows:
 - Full-time benefited "exempt" employees are paid their normal pay when the University is officially closed as described in this policy. These employees are required to complete all required duties and may work additional hours as needed to complete those duties.
 - O Full-time benefited hourly employees will be paid for actual clock hours worked, and may use available vacation or personal time to cover any time lost under this policy in 4-hour increments. These employees may be permitted to make up lost time within the same workweek with the approval of their immediate supervisor. Non-benefited hourly employees, temporary workers, and student workers are paid for actual clock hours worked. These employees may be permitted to make up lost time within the same workweek with approval of their immediate supervisor.
 - Fully-remote/ hybrid employees are expected to complete their job duties from their designated workplace in the event that there is a closing or delay to regular business operations.

Safety

All employees are encouraged to take appropriate measures to ensure their own personal safety whether traveling to or from work. If conditions are too hazardous for safe travel when an employee is required to work, then the employee is required to notify his or her supervisor.

PAYROLL

5.8 Payday

Nonexempt (hourly) employees are paid biweekly on every other Friday. Each paycheck will include all earnings for the two weeks preceding the current pay week. The current payroll schedule can be found on the Human Resources webpage. Employees who have elected direct deposit, will receive payment deposited into their bank account(s) by the pay date. Any employee not using direct deposit will have their paycheck mailed to the Human Resources address on file by the pay date.

Exempt (salaried) employees are paid semi-monthly on the 15th and the last day of the month. Should the regularly scheduled payday fall on a weekend, payment will be issued the Friday before the regularly scheduled payday. Should the regularly scheduled payday fall on a university or bank holiday, the payment will be issued on a business day preceding the holiday. The current payroll schedule can be found on the Human Resources webpage. Each paycheck will include earnings for all work performed through the day the check is received. For example, payment issued on January 15th will reflect earnings for work performed from January 15th through January 31st and payment issued on January 31st will reflect earnings for work performed from January 16th through January 31st. Employees who have elected direct deposit, will receive payment deposited into their bank account(s) by the pay date. Any employee not using direct deposit will have their paycheck mailed to the Human Resources address on file by the pay date.

Payment Elections

Employees are able to update their payment elections through Workday at any time. If the update is made at least five days prior to the pay date, it will take effect for the current pay period. If the update is made within four days of the pay date, it will take effect the following pay period.

While the University does not require employees to participate in Direct Deposit, we highly recommend Direct Deposit as the safest and most time effective method in receiving pay. The University is not responsible for the individual bank's processing time to deposit the funds to the employee's account(s). All employees should check their account(s) to ensure funds have been deposited prior to drawing against those funds.

Paper checks are only released to the employee. Paper checks are issued by ADP and distributed by the United States Postal Service. The University cannot guarantee the delivery time for paper checks.

Pay Deductions

University employees are subject to various mandatory paycheck withholdings. These withholdings are deductions mandated by federal, state, and local laws, ensuring compliance with tax regulations and other legal obligations. These deductions could include:

Federal Income Tax: Federal income tax is deducted from wages based on the information provided on the Form W-4. Please see IRS Publication 15-T for clarification on how withholding is calculated based on an employee's pay amount and W-4 elections. Upon receipt of Letter 2800C (lock-in letter), the

University is required to make the dictated adjustments to an employee's withholdings as mandated by the IRS.

State Income Tax: State income tax is withheld according to the state in which the employee works. Each state has its own tax rates and regulations.

Local Income Tax: In some jurisdictions, local income taxes are also withheld. These can include city, county, or other local taxes, and the withholding rates vary depending on the local regulations.

Social Security Tax: The Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) mandates withholding for Social Security tax. This is reflected in Workday as Old Age, Survivors, and Disability Insurance (OASDI). For more information on the calculation of Social Security Tax, please visit the Social Security Administration official website.

Medicare Tax: FICA also requires withholding for Medicare tax. Additionally, there is an extra Medicare tax withheld on wages over a certain threshold, based on your filing status. For more information regarding the calculation of Medicare tax, please see Topic No. 751 on the IRS website.

State Disability Insurance (SDI): Some states require withholding for state disability insurance programs. The rate and maximum taxable wage limits vary by state.

State Unemployment Insurance (SUI): Certain states also mandate withholdings for state unemployment insurance. These contributions are typically used to fund unemployment benefits for workers who lose their jobs.

Garnishments, Tax Levies, Qualified Domestic Relations Order (QDRO) and other Court Ordered Payments: Garnishments and tax levies, if issued, are required by law to be withheld from the employee's pay. A garnishment is a legal action by a creditor requiring the University to withhold a specific amount from an employee's earnings. A tax levy is a similar action brought by a governmental tax agency to satisfy an employee's tax indebtedness. Human Resources will notify the employee upon receipt of such documents.

A QDRO or court-ordered payment is typically an obligation of the employee to pay directly to the court or person named in the QDRO, payments for spousal or child support. Employees are required to notify Human Resources of these obligations, supplying associated documents so that the proper payments can be made. In the event an employee does not notify Human Resources, court-ordered payments will be paid directly from the employee's next regular paycheck upon notification from the respective court, including any arrears that may be due as required by the court. Human Resources will notify the employee upon receipt of such court orders.

The University is obligated under law to deduct these garnishments, tax levies, QDROs, and Court Ordered Spousal or Child Support payments and cannot discontinue the deduction from pay until official documentation from the court or agency has been received in writing releasing the University.

All court-ordered payments listed above and tax levies take priority over other elective deductions such as medical insurance premiums, etc. Regardless of the remaining payroll funds, arrangements must be made with Human Resources to ensure payment of other benefits to maintain the employee's obligations.

Other Required Deductions: Depending on an employee's location and employment circumstances, there may be other mandatory withholdings such as occupational taxes, transit taxes, or other specific deductions required by law.

The University offers programs and benefits beyond those required by law. **Eligible*** employees may voluntarily authorize deductions from their paychecks to cover the costs of participation in these programs. For more information on these programs please visit the <u>HR Benefits Page</u>, or view them in Workday.

*Eligibility, please see the Liberty University Summary Plan Description for details on eligibility and terms, conditions and related cost, of the plans. Elected ancillary deductions will be made as authorized by the employee.

It is the employee's responsibility to ensure that all withholding information is accurate and up to date. The Federal Form W-4 or any state equivalent can be updated at any time through Workday. Keeping withholding information current helps prevent underpayment or overpayment of taxes.

Any questions about the required withholdings or for assistance in understanding pay statements, please contact the Liberty University Payroll Services at lupayroll@liberty.edu.

Mention of elective benefit payment deductions left off and how that works.

Administrative Pay Corrections

The University takes all reasonable steps to ensure that employees receive the correct amount of pay in each paycheck and that employees are paid promptly on the scheduled payday.

In the event that there is an error in the amount of pay, the employee should promptly bring the discrepancy to the attention of Payroll Services so that corrections can be made as quickly as possible.

Loss & Replacement of Checks

Employees who lose or misplace their paycheck should notify the Payroll Services <u>immediately</u>. If the bank has processed the paycheck a replacement cannot be re-issued until the funds have been returned to the University. Checks mailed at the request of an employee are the sole responsibility of that individual; Payroll Services and the Human Resources Office cannot be held responsible for incorrect addresses, postal problems, etc. If a check is lost under such circumstances and has not been processed by the bank it can be replaced, upon request.

Pay Advances

The University does not, under any circumstances, provide pay advances.

5.9 PERSONNEL DATA CHANGES

It is the responsibility of each employee to promptly notify the University of any changes in personnel data. Personal mailing addresses, telephone numbers, number and names of dependents, individuals to be contacted in the event of an emergency, educational accomplishments, payroll data and other such status reports should be accurate and current at all times. If any personnel data has changed, please use Workday to make those updates. There may be instances where additional documentation will be required to upload for those changes to be submitted and approved.

5.10 REQUESTS FOR EMPLOYMENT VERIFICATION

Employment Verification Requests

All requests for current employment verification with the University should be in writing and directed to the Human Resources Office. Human Resources will release an employee's title, years of service, and current salary to organizations requesting such data as long as the request is in writing and signed by the employee. It is the policy of the University to release this information only and will not project any periods of continued employment.

Employment Verification of Former Employees

All requests for past employment verification from a prospective employer should be directed to the Human Resources Office. Human Resources will release a past employee's title, date of hire, date of termination, and salary at time of termination of employment as long as the request is in writing and signed by the former employee. The University will not release reason for termination or rehire eligibility unless required by law.

The University does not provide verbal verification of employments. All requests should be in writing and accompanied by a signed authorization. For more information regarding verification of employments, please visit the Employment Verification webpage within the Human Resources website.

No employment information will be disclosed to any outside third party without the employee or former employee's written request authorizing release of such information, unless the University has been subpoenaed under court order or mandated to produce information by an authorized governmental agency order.

5.11 ACCESS TO EMPLOYEE FILES/RECORDS

The University maintains a personnel file on each employee. The personnel file includes such information as the employee's job application, resume, official transcripts, records of training, documentation of performance appraisals, salary increases, and other employment records.

Personnel files are the property of the University, and access to the information contained therein is **strictly confidential** and **restricted**. Generally, only supervisors and management personnel of the University who have a legitimate reason to review information in a file are allowed to do so.

Upon receipt of a written request from a current or former employee or employee's attorney, the University will furnish a copy of all records or papers retained in any format, reflecting:

- 1) Dates of employment with the University
- 2) Wages or salary during employment
- 3) The employees job description and job title during employment
- 4) Any injuries sustained by employee during the course of employment with the University.

The request will be provided within 30 days from the date the written request is received.

No other information will be disclosed from the employee's personnel file or any other employee information repository with the exception of court orders or mandates to produce information by an authorized governmental agency order.

Section 6: LEAVES OF ABSENCE

6.1 ABSENCE FROM WORK

The University recognizes that employees will not be present at work from time to time for a variety of reasons. However, attendance is and will continue to be an important factor in an employee's performance. Excessive, or unexcused absences may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment, even though such absences have been paid for by the University in accordance with the policies set forth in this Handbook.

Excessive absences are normally defined as more than five (5) non-consecutive incidents of unscheduled absence within the calendar year.

<u>Paid Excused Absence</u> is pay for a University-approved absence as set forth under the specific explanation of paid leave.

<u>Unpaid Excused Absence</u> is a University-approved absence wherein the employee has obtained prior approval for unpaid leave. The employee is considered in an "Unpaid Absence" status during this time. With the exception of leaves under the Family and Medical Leave Policy, Extended Leave Policy and certain military leaves, the University's normal practice limits unpaid leaves of absence. In the event an unpaid excused absence is granted, all earned vacation must be exhausted. Vacation will not be allotted during any unpaid absence, except certain military leaves. In addition, certain other benefits may be affected.

<u>Unexcused Absence</u> is an absence that may result from situations set forth below.

- The failure of an employee to notify his or her immediate supervisor of the reason for an absence when the absence begins.
- The failure of an employee to return from a period of excused absence on the day stipulated.
- Giving false reason for absence.

<u>Unreported Absence and Job Abandonment</u> – An unreported absence will be classified as an unexcused absence. Any employee absent three (3) consecutive unreported days may be considered to have voluntarily terminated his or her employment. In such situations, the university will designate the employee's last day of work as the termination date.

If additional time is required outside paid excused absences described herein, the employee is required to have that time approved by the department head and Human Resources.

6.2 VACATION BENEFITS

The university provides paid vacation to eligible employees - promoting a healthy work-to-life balance, with opportunities for rest, relaxation, and personal pursuits. Eligible employees are classified as 12-month benefited, full-time employees.

Eligible salaried and hourly new hires begin to accrue vacation based on their date of hire, and may begin using accrued vacation after a period of 60 days of active service. The date of hire will determine the number of pro-rated hours an employee will have the opportunity to accrue in the first calendar year of service.

Salaried (exempt) and Hourly (non-exempt) employees may use paid vacation time in minimum increments of one (1) hour.

Salaried and hourly employees accrue 120 hours of vacation per year. Additional vacation hours are frontloaded at the beginning of each year, based on length of service as shown in the following schedule. Employees reaching their 5th and 10th anniversary will receive their additional vacation allotment on the 1st of January prior to their 5th and 10th anniversary date.

Full-time, contracted faculty (both teaching and administrative) and NCAA contracted coaches are not limited to a certain number of vacation days and are required to arrange time off with their leadership.

LENGTH OF SERVICE	VACATION
0* - 4 Years	120 Hrs
5 – 9 Years	120 + 40
10+ Years	120 + 80

^{*}Prorated in the first year of service

Vacation hours are accrued and calculated on a monthly basis for active service through the end of each month (accrued as of the last day of a full month's active service). No vacation time may be used prior to being accrued.

Vacation leave time will not be accrued during an employee's leave of absence whether paid or unpaid, with the exception of military leave less than 30 days, in accordance with the USERRA statute of 1994.

Up to forty (40) accrued vacation hours can be carried over in any one year. The vacation time that is carried over and is not used by December 31st of the carry-over calendar year, will be lost.

To take vacation, employees should request advance approval in Workday, the supervisor will review for approval. Requests will be reviewed based on a number of factors, including business needs and staffing requirements. Employees must use all accrued vacation time before requesting time off without pay (except where prohibited by law).

Some Departments have blackout periods based on seasonal increases of workload. Employees should check with their supervisor on these periods where no vacation hours may be taken. Many

departments observe August 10 to September 10 due to the extra pressure and workload created by the beginning of school and student check-in as their vacation blackout dates.

Vacation time off is paid at the employee's base pay rate at the time of vacation. It does not include overtime or any special forms of compensation.

Upon termination of employment, employees will be paid for accrued, unused vacation time (calculated as each full month of active service).

With the exception of some approved leaves of absence, an employee's effective termination date will be their last day of work. Employees cannot use accrued vacation time to extend the effective termination date.

6.3 HOLIDAYS

The University will grant paid time off to all benefited full-time employees on the holidays listed below:

- New Year's Day (January 1)
- Easter
- Memorial Day
- Independence Day
- Labor Day
- Thanksgiving and the Friday following Thanksgiving
- Christmas Week
- Martin Luther King Jr. Day

The University will grant paid holiday time off to all benefited employees from date of hire. Holiday pay will be calculated based on the employee's straight time pay rate (as of the date of the holiday) times the number of hours the employee would otherwise have worked on that day. Eligible employee classification:

12-Month Benefited Full-Time Employees

A recognized holiday that falls on a Saturday will be observed the day prior (Friday) to the holiday. A recognized holiday that falls on a Sunday will be observed the day following (Monday) the holiday.

If a recognized holiday falls during an eligible employee's paid absence (e.g., vacation, personal/sick days) holiday pay will be provided instead of the paid time off benefit that would otherwise have applied, with the exception of paid maternity leave which will run concurrently with the leave.

If an eligible employee works on a recognized holiday, he or she will have the opportunity to save that holiday for a later date. Approval to work on a holiday must be approved in advance by the department supervisor.

An employee who is absent (unpaid days or leave of absence) from work for any reason other than a paid day off on scheduled work days, immediately preceding a holiday, will not receive holiday pay.

Christmas Holiday time off will be added to each employee's time calendar. If an essential employee is required to work during the Christmas holiday week, the employee or supervisor will need to request to remove the Christmas holiday time from their Workday calendar. Once approved by the department Vice President, the employee will be able to rollover the Christmas holiday time in addition to their normal maximum of 40 vacation hours.

Employees cannot use holiday time off to extend the effective termination date.

6.4 SICK DAYS BENEFITS

The University provides paid sick days to all benefited employees for periods of temporary absence due to illness or injury. Eligible employee classification:

12-Month Benefited Full-Time Employees

Eligible employees will receive five (5) sick days per calendar year effective January 1st of each year. The date of hire will determine the number of pro-rated days an employee will be entitled to receive in the first calendar year of service. Hourly (non-exempt) employees may request paid sick time in minimum increments of one hour, and may begin using available sick time after a period of 60 days of active service. Salaried (exempt) employees may request paid sick time in minimum increments of one hour.

Employees may use allotted paid sick leave time following their 60th day of employment.

Employees who are unable to report to work due to illness or injury should notify their direct supervisor before the scheduled start of their workday, if possible. The direct supervisor must also be contacted on each additional day of absence. Before returning to work from a sick day absence of five (5) calendar days or more an employee must provide a physician's verification that he or she may safely return to work.

Sick day benefits will be calculated based on the employee's base pay rate at the time of absence and will not include any special forms of compensation. Sick day benefits are intended solely to provide income protection in the event of illness or injury, and may not be used for any other absence, with the exception of use for emergency closings. Employees must use all accrued sick time before requesting time off without pay, as otherwise allowed under law. **Unused sick day benefits will not be paid to employees while they are employed or upon termination of employment.**

Maternity Leave

The University will not discriminate against any employee who requests an excused absence for medical disabilities associated with pregnancy.

6.5 FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE (FML)

The University complies with the Family and Medical Leave Act. The University will make every effort to provide guaranteed leave under the Family and Medical Leave policy at the sole discretion of the University. The University will normally extend up to 12 weeks of unpaid leave to a full-time, staff or faculty employee who has been with the University for at least one (l) year and completed 1,250 hours prior to the date on which the FML is to commence for the following reasons:

- The birth or adoption of a child, or the placement of a child with the employee in foster care.
- To care for a spouse, child, or parent with a serious health condition.
- A serious health condition, which makes the employee unable to perform required job functions.
- For any qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that a spouse, son, daughter, or parent is a military member on covered active duty or call to covered active-duty status.

Eligible employees are normally granted leave up to a maximum of 12 weeks within any rolling 12- month period. Any combination of medical leave and family leave may not exceed this maximum limit as allowable under state law. The University requires that an employee exhaust available Sick leave which does count toward the maximum of 12 weeks. The remaining leave will be unpaid unless the employee chooses to use vacation or other available leave, as allowable under state law.

In general, a serious medical condition is one that prevents an employee from working or performing other normal life activities. Also, an injury or illness that results in the inability to work for more than five (5) consecutive days, or a condition that requires ongoing medical treatment may be considered a serious health condition; and as such, the University will document under FML. **Employees are required to notify HR of any absence resulting from an illness of five (5) consecutive days or more.** The University may require that an employee obtain and show proof of medical certification to substantiate the need for leave due to a serious health condition or one afflicting a covered family member and may require subsequent re-certification during the leave.

FML may be taken on an intermittent or continuous basis in the event of a certified medical necessity for the employee or an eligible family member. In the event of the birth of a child or the placement of a child for adoption or foster placement, FML may only be taken on a continuous basis.

Elected medical and dental benefits will remain in force on behalf of the employee during the leave. The employee will pay their portion of the insurance premiums upon return through payroll deduction.

Vacation Leave will not accrue while the employee is on leave.

When FML ends, the University will make every effort to return the employee to their same position if such a position is available or to an equal position for which the employee is qualified. If an employee fails to report to work promptly at the end of the leave and the University has received no notification for three (3) days following the report to work date, the University will assume that the employee has voluntarily terminated employment and abandoned the job.

To request a leave of absence, contact your supervisor and Employee Relations or the Leave and Accommodation Administrator. Employees will be provided with the comprehensive policy and

appropriate forms to be completed by both the employee and, in some cases, the employee's (or employee's family member's) treating physician, as allowable under state law.

The University supports our Armed Forces Service members, and as such, adds the following provisions to the FML policy – approval for leave is at the sole discretion of the University.

Qualifying Exigency LeaveFML allows an eligible employee to take up to 12-weeks of leave in any rolling 12-month period for qualifying exigency leave. If your spouse, child, or parent is a military member who is deployed or has been notified of an impending deployment to a foreign country, you may be entitled to a qualifying exigency leave. Qualifying exigency leave may include issues arising from the military member's short-notice deployment, updating financial and legal arrangements arising from the military member's covered active duty, to attend counseling, to attend military events, to spend up to fifteen calendar days with military member who is on Rest and Recuperation leave during covered active duty, and to address certain childcare and related activities concerning the military member's child that arise from the military member's covered active duty. (This qualification for FML is included as part of the combined total of 12-weeks as set forth in the foregoing policy in anyone rolling 12-month period and will not extend the weeks of FML regardless of the qualifying event.) Certification will be required as set forth by the DOL.

Military Caregiver Leave

At the sole discretion of the University, the University will allow an eligible employee who is the spouse, child, parent or "next of kin" (defined as the nearest blood relative of that individual) of a "covered service member" to take up to 26 work weeks of unpaid leave in a single rolling 12-month period to care for the service member. (Covered Service member is defined as a member of the Armed Forces, including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, is otherwise in outpatient status or is otherwise on temporary disability retired list, for a qualifying serious injury or illness. A serious injury or illness is limited to an injury or illness incurred by the member in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces that may render the member medically unfit to perform the duties of the member's office, grade, rank, or rating.) Certification will be required as set forth by the DOL.

Service member Family Leave is combined with all other FML, limiting FML for the five qualifying events (12 weeks) plus Service Member Family Leave to a combined total of 26 weeks of leave during any-one rolling 12-month period.

The University will make every effort to return the employee to his or her same position if such a position is available or to an equal position. If an employee fails to report to work promptly at the end of the leave and the University has received no notification for three (3) days following the report to work date, the University will assume that the employee has voluntarily terminated employment and abandoned the job.

Benefits may be affected under this leave as well; for more information, contact Human Resources.

6.6 WAGE CONTINUATION (DISABILITY)

In addition to other paid sick leave policies, the University offers all Full Time Benefited Employees additional pay for qualified personal FML, subject to short term disability qualifications. Employees are eligible for this wage continuation if they meet the following qualifications:

- Employee is currently employed by the University and has been with the University for no less than 12 consecutive months; and
- Employee is eligible and has been approved by Human Resources for FML under personal medical qualifications conditions; and employee is currently enrolled in Short-term Disability through The Hartford; and.
- Employee has submitted a claim for short-term disability benefits and the claim has been approved by The Hartford Insurance.

Under this Policy, eligible qualifying employees will be paid the following benefits, limited to one period of wage continuation during a rolling calendar year:

- Week 1 of a qualifying disability, employee will be paid his or her normal pay, and
- Weeks 2-4 of a qualifying disability, the University will pay the difference between the normal weekly salary and the maximum amount of weekly short term disability payment from the insurance company for which he or she is eligible.
- Subsequent weeks that the employee has not returned to work will be unpaid by the University.
- At no time will an employee be paid more than 100% of their current rate of pay for any qualifying leave, all combined sources.

6.7 LACTATION ACCOMMODATION

The University provides reasonable time for employed lactating mothers for the purpose of expressing breast milk for up to two years after the birth of their child. The University will make reasonable efforts to provide a private room or other location in proximity to the employee's work area. Employees should complete the Lactation Room and Time Request form here to schedule breaks and the use of the assigned rooms provided for this purpose. Once approved, the employee will receive confirmation through email and their access to the requested lactation room will be granted.

Eligible non-exempt employees who are provided regular paid breaks during the workday may choose to use their break time for the purpose of expressing breast milk but are not required to do so. Otherwise, lactation breaks are unpaid time and should be recorded appropriately in Workday.

Eligible exempt employees are provided reasonable time for the purpose of expressing breast milk and are required to work the number of hours necessary to complete the duties of the job.

6.8 PREGNANT WORKERS FAIRNESS ACT (PWFA)

The University will provide pregnant employees reasonable accommodations for a qualified employee's known limitations related to, affected by pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. The employee must make a request for an accommodation with both their immediate supervisor and HR.

HR will work with the Pregnant Worker on an interactive basis to review and provide a reasonable accommodation. A determination will be made within 10 working days following the request.

The University is a Christian religious-affiliated organization and believes that life begins at conception. As such, the University is not subject to and does not support any portions of the Act that are not consistent with our religious beliefs and doctrines.

For more information regarding further details on the PWFA, please contact Human Resources. No employee will be subject to any retaliation for requesting and/or working under any pregnancy accommodation.

Contact Human Resources at hr@liberty.edu or 434-592-7330 for more information.

6.9 MILITARY LEAVE / CIVIL AIR PATROL

Military Leave

The University will grant a military leave of absence to employees who are absent from work because of active service in the uniformed armed services of the United States in accordance with the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA). Advance notice of military service is required unless military necessity prevents such notice, or it is otherwise impossible or unreasonable.

Effective 01/01/24 after one year of full-time service with the University, qualified, eligible full-time employees will be paid the employees normal rate of pay for the period of ten (10) business days for National Guard Reserves, and other applicable military branch reservists, active duty training each calendar year. Annual training orders must be received prior to approval.

Time over the designated time above will be unpaid. Employees are not required to use accrued Vacation during the absence, but may choose to do so with notification to HR. Benefit accruals, such as Vacation will be suspended during a leave of more than 30 days and will resume upon the employee's return to active employment. If not granted effective January 1st due to military leave, the employee will be granted 40 hours of Sick pay upon return to work. An employee whose military leave crosses over to a new calendar year, will be permitted to roll over their remaining vacation balance. The University will count the time of military service as accrued seniority for benefit and regular annual pay increase purposes, as long as the military performance was satisfactory during the active-duty period.

Returning employees will be provided the opportunity to "make up" their elected contributions to the University's 403(b) for the period the Plan participant was on military leave. The University's matching contribution will be applied based on the terms of the Plan, and continuing the vesting service schedule as though the employee was actively at work as set forth under USERRA.

An employee who has served between one (1) and 30 days must report to the University by the beginning of the first regularly scheduled workday, eight (8) hours after the employee returns home. An employee who has served 31 to 180 days must submit a notice for re-employment no later than 14 days after completion of service. An employee who has served 181 days or more must submit a notice no later than 90 days after completion of military service. Employees returning from military leave of less than 91 days will be placed in the position they would have attained had they remained continuously employed. Employees returning from military leave after 91 days or more may be returned to a position of like seniority, status and pay they would have otherwise attained so long as it does not result in an undue hardship for the University. Employees will be treated as though they were continuously employed for purposes of determining those benefits covered under law, based on length of service. Contact Human Resources at hr@liberty.edu or 434-592-7330 for more information.

Civil Air Patrol

An employee who is a volunteer member of the Civil Air Patrol shall be entitled to leaves of absence from his or her employment without loss of seniority, accrued leave, benefits, or performance rating on all days during which such employee is engaged in training for emergency missions with the Civil Air Patrol, not to exceed 10 workdays per year, or responding to an emergency missions as a Civil Air Patrol Volunteer, not to exceed 30 workdays per year. The leave of absence will be unpaid leave. The employee may elect to use available sick / vacation hours but is not required to use.

An employee requesting leave pursuant to this section shall provide certification that the employee has been authorized by the United States Air Force, the Governor, or a department, division, agency, or Proprietary Property of Liberty University

Page 85

political subdivision of the state to respond to or train for emergency missions and verification from the Civil Air Patrol of the emergency need for the employee's volunteer service.

6.10 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

If an employee wishes to take time off due to the death of an immediate family member, the employee should notify his or her supervisor immediately for approval.

Up to three days of paid bereavement leave will be provided to eligible employees in a benefited position in the following classification:

12-Month Benefited Full-Time Employees

Bereavement pay is calculated based on the base pay rate at the time of absence and will not include any special forms of compensation, such as incentives or bonuses.

Any employee may, with the supervisor's approval, use any available paid leave for additional time off as necessary.

The University defines "immediate family" as the employee's spouse, parent, grandparent, grandpa

Liberty believes that life originates at conception; and therefore, recognizes that an expecting parent may grieve in the event of the loss of a child by miscarriage. The University reserves the right to request documentation. Therefore, an employee or employee's spouse having a miscarriage must provide a Healthcare Provider's written notification of the miscarriage and turn it into Human Resources for approval upon request.

6.11 JURY DUTY, VICTIM RIGHTS, and OTHER CIVIC RESPONSIBILITIES

The University encourages employees to fulfill their civic responsibilities by serving jury duty when required, and strictly complies with both federal and state law specific to jury leave. The employee must directly notify the supervisor as soon as notice is received from the court and must notify the supervisor of every day of jury duty. The employee must submit supporting documentation from the court to his or her direct supervisor.

Full-time benefitted employees will be paid for serving jury duty at the employee's regular rate of pay for time served and documented by the court. Employees receiving pay from the court are not required to report it to the University.

Both exempt and non-exempt employees must record time in Workday for all jury duty leave. Should an employee be dismissed early within the first half of their regular shift, the employee is expected to report to work that same day, or as otherwise required under law. Third-shift employees should consult their supervisor to adjust their schedule as needed.

Should an employee be called as a witness on behalf of the University, the employee will be paid his or her normal rate of pay for that time. Employees will also receive paid leave under the Crime Victim and Witness Rights Act, or to attend court proceedings specific to the employee's minor dependent child.

If an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness in a jury trial or court proceeding, or chooses to serve as a witness in a jury trial or court proceeding (including traffic court), the employee will be granted unpaid leave for the time required for the actual trial or court proceeding. Employees may choose to use accrued vacation, but are not required to do so.

Victim Rights

The University wishes to support an employee who is a victim of a crime to leave work to be present at all criminal proceedings relating to a crime against the employee or a minor child, as long as the employee has provided the employer with a copy of the form provided to the employee by the law-enforcement agency pursuant to subsection A of § 19.2-11.01. If applicable, the employee may be asked to provide the University with a copy of the notice of each scheduled criminal proceeding that is provided to the employee as a victim. However, the University may limit the leave provided under this section if the employee's leave creates an undue hardship in the department.

Voting

The University encourages employees to vote in every national, state, or local election and are encouraged to plan their workday to vote before or after their regular working hours or during their lunch break. If the employee cannot reasonably vote during these times, the supervisor will work with the employee to identify a timeframe for the employee to vote.

6.12 EXTENDED PERSONAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE, LEAVE WITH APPROVAL (LACK OF WORK) and ORGAN DONATION LEAVE

Extended Personal Leave of Absence

Employees with at least one year of continuous active service in a full-time benefited position with the University may request personal leave without pay of up to a maximum of 30 consecutive days within any rolling 12-month period. Approvals are based on the circumstances, the performance level of the employee, and the ability of the University to smoothly conduct business in the employee's absence; and are at the sole discretion of the department head and Human Resources. All earned vacation must be exhausted prior to the unpaid leave. Vacation days will not continue to accrue during the approved personal leave and holidays will be unpaid. The University will make every effort to restore an employee to his or her former position or to an equivalent position for which he or she is qualified. However, the position is not guaranteed upon return. Some benefits that the employee is currently enrolled in may be continued at the employee's expense (if allowed under the provisions of the insurance policy).

Leave with Approval (Lack of Work)

From time to time, the University may have situations where a mandatory time off is required due to lack of work or other situations preventing the normal schedule or shift. Employees may use their available allotted vacation or may take the time as unpaid.

Organ Donation Leave

Employees with at least one year of continuous active service in a full-time benefited position with the University for a 12-month consecutive period may request organ donation leave.

The University shall provide an eligible employee up to 60 business days of unpaid organ donation leave in any 12-month rolling period to serve as an organ donor and up to 30 business days of unpaid organ donation leave in any rolling 12-month period to serve as a bone marrow donor.

To receive organ donation leave, the eligible employee shall provide written physician verification to the employer that the eligible employee is an organ donor or a bone marrow donor and there is a medical necessity for the donation of the organ or bone marrow.

No employee shall take organ donation leave concurrently with leave taken under the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (FML). Employee may elect to use available sick / vacation time.

Should an employee seek and obtain other employment during a leave of absence, regardless of the duration of that employment, such action will constitute a voluntary resignation.

6.13 MATERNITY LEAVE

Policy Overview

Liberty University is committed to supporting mothers during and after childbirth. Beginning July 1, 2024, maternity leave is available to eligible employees for the birth and the care of a newborn child. The eligible mother may only use this benefit once per rolling calendar year and the amount of leave given does not increase based on multiple births.

Eligibility

In order to be eligible for up to 12 weeks of maternity leave, employees must be classified as full-time, benefitted employees; have worked for Liberty University for at least 12 consecutive months prior to the start of the leave and have worked at least 1,250 hours prior to the event; and be a current participant in the Hartford Short Term Disability Insurance (STDI) and qualified under maternity benefit requirements. Maternity leave does not include paternity leave for the birth of a child.

Eligible employees who have enrolled in Hartford STDI, but are not qualified for the benefit for the birth of a child under the plan will receive supplemental pay for up to six weeks of paid maternity leave, based on the same criteria normally extending to the STDI participant as though they were qualified under the disability plan. Other terms of the policy listed below apply to the six week period as well.

Benefit

- Birth of a Child Liberty University will provide up to 12 weeks of pay as a combination of the STDI approved Hartford benefit for the birth of a child and supplemental pay. The university will supplement the Hartford benefit up to the maximum of 100% of the eligible employee's base current salary. No combination of benefits will result in payment from any source of more than 100% of current pay. The benefit begins following the birth of a child or immediately following Hartford's approval of a medically necessary complication of pregnancy.
- Still birth of a child The University will supplement the Hartford benefit pay of the eligible employee of up to 100% of pay which will run concurrently with the STDI approved benefit period. When the STDI period ends, no further supplemental pay or maternity leave will be extended. The employee will be able to use their applicable bereavement leave, unused personal/sick leave and accrued vacation for additional time off if they choose.
- The 12-week benefit will run concurrently with leave under FMLA, and will run concurrently to any
 other state benefit mandated for the birth of a child or complication of pregnancy as allowed under
 applicable state or federal law.
- The 12-week period must be taken consecutively and will begin immediately on the date of birth or
 immediately following Hartford's approval of a medically necessary complication of pregnancy, and
 typically may not be used intermittently during the 12-week leave.
- The expectation of the University is that the employee will return following the 12-week leave. However, an employee may request up to four additional weeks of unpaid time or paid part-time work immediately following the 12-week period, subject to manager approval. Nonexempt employees approved for additional leave may take leave or work part time on an hourly basis. Exempt employees approved for additional leave must take leave or work on a normal 40 hour weekly basis. Employees who do not return to work on a full time basis for a minimum of 30 days

- following the leave may be required to reimburse the University supplemented portion of paid leave provided by the University.
- Eligible employees will not continue to accrue vacation during leave as allowable under state law.
- Eligible employees residing in states where the employee and the University participate in a state fund providing paid maternity leave will receive pay supplementing the fund payment to bring the eligible employee up to 100% of current pay for up to 12 weeks as qualified, if necessary. No combination of benefits will result in payment from any source of more than 100% of current pay. The maternity leave policy is not offered nor is it correlated with any applicable state fund paternity benefits.

Request for Maternity Leave

- Eligible staff must request FML and Maternity Leave at least 30 days prior to the expected due date, barring unforeseen circumstances.
- Eligible faculty must request benefits three (3) months prior to the start of the Fall or Spring Semester in which they will use the benefit.
- The Request for Maternity Leave can be found on the Benefits Comprehensive webpage under Paid Leave.
- The Request for Maternity Leave and FML must be completed in full, including proof of pregnancy and/or complication of pregnancy from the eligible employee's physician.
- The eligible employee will be required to file a claim for benefits with the Hartford (and/or state fund) to enact the Short Term Disability Insurance and be qualified and approved for pregnancy/birth benefits (including medical complications of birth) or still birth of a child for the supplemental payment of the leave.

6.14 ADOPTION LEAVE

Policy Overview

Liberty University is committed to supporting families by providing paid adoption leave for up to 12 weeks. Beginning July 1, 2024 adoption leave is available to eligible employees for the adoption and care of a newly adopted child under the age of 13. The eligible employee may only use this benefit once per rolling calendar year and the amount of leave given does not increase based on the number of children involved in the event.

Eligibility

In order to be eligible for this benefit, employees must be classified as full-time, benefitted employees; have worked for Liberty University for at least 12 consecutive months prior to the start of the leave and have worked at least 1,250 hours prior to the finalization of adoption.

Benefit

- Adoption of a Child Liberty University will provide up to 12 weeks of paid leave up to the
 maximum of 100% of the eligible employee's base current salary for the adoption of a child under 13
 years of age. Benefit begins following the finalization of adoption of the child.
- The 12-week benefit will run concurrently with leave under FMLA, and will run concurrently to any other state benefit mandated for the adoption of a child as allowed under state law.
- The 12-week period must be taken consecutively and will begin immediately on the date of the adoption of a child and may not be used intermittently.
- The expectation of the University is that the employee will return following the 12- week leave. Employees who do not return to work on a full time basis for a minimum of 30 days may be required to reimburse the paid leave provided by the University.
- Eligible Employees will not continue to accrue vacation during leave as allowable under state and federal law.
- Eligible employees residing in states where the employee and the University participate in a state fund providing paid parental leave or adoption leave will receive pay supplementing the fund payment to bring the eligible employee up to 100% of current pay for up to 12 weeks. No combination of benefits will result in payment from any source of more than 100% of current pay.
- If both adoptive parents are LU employees, both parents may choose to use up to six weeks paid simultaneously, not to exceed 12 weeks combined in total, so long as the leave does not adversely affect the smooth operation of the department/school or University. This does not impact the ability for each parent to take up to 12 weeks of FML.
- This policy does not apply to stepchild adoptions.

Request for Adoption Leave

• Eligible staff must request FML and adoption benefits at least 30 days prior to the expected placement date, barring unforeseen circumstances.

- Eligible faculty must request FML and adoption benefits three months prior to the start of the Fall or Spring Semester in which they will use the benefit.
- The Request for Adoption Leave can be found on the Benefits Comprehensive webpage under Paid Leave.
- The Request for FML and Adoption Leave must be completed in full, including proof of adoption from the employee's adoption agency or attorney handling the adoption.

6.15 DISASTER RESPONSE TEAM LEAVE

Full time eligible employees who have been employed with the University for a minimum of one year are provided an opportunity to volunteer with LU Serve Now as part of the Disaster Response Team.

The University offers up to 40 hours of paid leave per rolling calendar year to full-time eligible employees who volunteer and are selected for active service with LU Serve Now sponsored disaster response programs in times of community, state, or national disaster.

Eligible employees will be required to contact LU Serve Now to volunteer for the Disaster Response Team pool as either a Team Leader for student volunteers or as a Disaster Response Service member. Both Team Leaders and Disaster Response Service members are required to satisfactorily complete LU Serve Now training to be added to the active pool. Additional information regarding Disaster Response Team requirements and processes can be found at Serve Now Faculty and Staff | LU Serve | Liberty University.

LU Serve Now will designate and communicate viable disaster response programs as they arise and will be responsible for selecting trained employee volunteers from the pool for both on-campus and travel services required for the disaster response program. Employees who volunteer and have met the requirements for the Disaster Response Team pool will be selected and assigned based on the time and needs of the specific disaster response program, at the discretion of LU Serve Now.

Disaster Response Team Leave must be requested and approved by the employee's Department Head (Vice President) or School Dean immediately following contact by LU Serve Now of selection for disaster response service and prior to accepting the volunteer assignment.

If an employee requests additional volunteer time over the paid 40 hours provided under Disaster Response Team Leave, approved accrued vacation can be used.

Section 7: GENERAL OPERATING PROCEDURES

7.1 MEDIA COMMUNICATIONS

Any request for information, comment, or interview from an outside media group or a third-party organization regarding the University and University business should be referred to Liberty's Office of Communications and Public Engagement for approval.

Any requests for Press Releases, Media Advisories, or University Announcements should be referred to the VP of Communications and/or the Managing Editor of Liberty News in the Office of Communications and Public Engagement.

7.2 SOLICITATION

The University's emphasis is on our high quality of work. We, therefore, seek to prevent any unnecessary interruption of work activities, obstruction of workplace operations, or other interference with work, including causing inconvenience to customers/students or other employees. Solicitation for any cause or distribution of literature pertaining to solicitation of any kind is not permitted without the approval of the department head. The department head will use the following as a guide:

- Whether the activity is required, governed, or prohibited by law.
- The importance of the activity to employees as a whole.
- Whether the activity projects the University's Mission-driven image.

Individuals who are not employed by the University are not permitted to solicit employees or distribute literature on University property for any purposes at any time.

No employee may solicit any other employee for any purpose whatsoever during the working time of either employee. No employee may distribute literature of any kind to any other employee during the working time of either employee or at any time in the working areas or in any customer service areas. For purposes of this rule, "working time" is interpreted to exclude authorized breaks and mealtimes, and those times before and after work is designated to begin or end.

Federal, State and Local Employee Rights Posters

Employee Legal Posters can be found across the campus, and displayed in high-traffic areas on all job sites. Should an employee have any questions regarding these posters, contact Human Resources.

7.3 COMPUTER USE

The University provides employees with computers and work equipment to aid them in completing their job functions. The University information systems may not be used to conduct private business or for secondary employment.

The IT Department has a set policy regarding hardware, software, computer use, Internet use, and associated policy information related to the use of University networks and systems. Employees are expected to be familiar with this policy, which is made a part of this handbook and are required to strictly abide by it. Please access the following web site for the <u>full IT Policy</u>.

The following is a brief overview of the University's expectations regarding the use of University computers, software, networks, programs, email, Internet and other related computer use.

<u>Privacy/Confidentiality</u>: All information created or contained on the University's computers and network, including electronic mail (E-mail), remains the property of the University, and as such the University reserves the right to monitor any and all such information as the need arises.

<u>E-mail</u>: E-mail is provided to employees and is intended for the exchange of internal information and data as well as a tool for business communications. E-mail should be limited to business use and should never violate any University policy, or any federal, state, or local law. E-mail messages should be written and handled with the same attention to content, grammar, and spelling as internal memoranda. E-mail carries the same requirements of any other University property and should not be destroyed, altered, or erased except as authorized under IT policy. Inappropriate use of E-mail may be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination.

<u>Internet</u>: The University provides Internet access to employees appropriate to their job responsibilities at Liberty University facilities. Internet usage is limited to legitimate business purposes. Certain restrictions apply to use of the Internet when accessing through University systems. Inappropriate use of the Internet may be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination. **No employee shall:**

- Visit inappropriate sites such as bulletin boards, chat rooms, Usenet groups, etc. or sites that include pornographic text, images, or material of an offensive nature. Behavior of all users accessing the internet through the University's network will be consistent with the Mission of the University, nor should any other information accessed be offensive to any individual or group of people. Network use may be monitored; and as such, employees who utilize the network in an inappropriate manner will be disciplined, up to and including immediate termination.
- Participate in personal-opinion blogging and social media posting that could be adverse to the University's Mission, image or reputation or causing embarrassment for any employee.

- Knowingly violate the laws and regulations of the United States or any other nation or the laws and regulations of any site, or local jurisdiction in any way. This includes illegal copying.
- Transmit or access information and/or other materials over the Internet or any other network on or off-site which an employee knows, or should reasonably know, to be fraudulent, harassing, or obscene, or which violates any other University policies.
- Place any information considered to be proprietary or confidential on the Internet. This includes
 export, transmission, storage, misuse or the unauthorized disclosure, access, alteration, loss or
 destruction of data.
- Limit use of game or entertainment software to non-working hours; gambling is not allowed at any time.
- Participate in any activity on the Internet that would damage the image of the University or any of its affiliates.
- Negatively impact VPN bandwidth. Streaming is highly discouraged while utilizing University VPN to maintain appropriate bandwidth for business activities.
- Mechanically disassemble or alter University provided hardware.

A tracking program may be used systematically to monitor all computer activity. The University reserves the right to inspect any and all files stored in private areas of our network in order to assure compliance with policy.

Employees are strictly prohibited from providing access to our computer program and networks to any unauthorized party. Passwords should be protected at all times; if an employee's password has become compromised or if an employee believes our network has been compromised in any way, contact the IT help desk: https://www.liberty.edu/information-services/help-and-support/.

All employees accessing the Internet from work or home need to be mindful of their responsibilities in representing the University before the public and conduct themselves in accordance with the highest personal and professional standards.

7.4 WEAPONS POLICY

Section 1. Definition of Terms

- A. "Weapon" is defined as any firearm designed or intended to expel a projectile by action of an explosion of a combustible material.
- B. "Concealed weapon" is defined as any weapon that is hidden from common observance while being on or about a person. A weapon is deemed hidden from common observation when it is appears so deceptively as to disguise the weapon's true nature.
- C. "Prop weapon" is defined as any item which looks like a weapon.
- D. "University property" is defined as any building or land owned or leased by the University or subject to its control.
- E. "Residence halls" is defined as the buildings on University property used to house students.
- F. "University facilities" is defined as the spaces on University property with defined enclosures for a designated use, such as an academic building, a residence hall, a theatre, an athletic field or stadium, but University facilities do not include open spaces, parking lots and recreational trails, even when those areas are enclosed by fencing or walls.

Section 2. Weapons on University Property Generally Prohibited

- A. Except as authorized pursuant to this policy, no person shall possess, store, carry, display or unlawfully use any weapon, or possess or carry a concealed weapon, on University property or in University facilities.
- B. Any prop weapon shall not be utilized for any purpose on University property or in University facilities without being approved by LUPD prior to being used in any activity.

Section 3. Persons Eligible for Authorization to Carry Weapon

- A. Police officers, other law enforcement officers, and other government personnel authorized to carry a weapon may carry their weapons on University property and in University facilities, in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.
- B. Licensed security officers who are authorized to carry a weapon and approved by the Liberty University Police Department (LUPD) to carry a weapon, may carry their weapons on University property and in University facilities, in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.
- C. Faculty and staff of the University, including student employees, who hold a valid concealed weapons permit recognized by the Commonwealth of Virginia, and who are approved by LUPD to carry a concealed weapon, may possess and carry such concealed weapon on University property and in University facilities, and may store the approved weapon in a secured container or compartment in their vehicle or office while on University property. Faculty and staff members, such as Resident Directors, who live in residence hall apartments may store their approved weapons within a secured container in their dwelling unit but weapons may not otherwise be stored in residence halls. The approved weapon shall never be openly carried except while necessary for its lawful use.
- D. Students of the University who are not also employees of the University, who hold a valid concealed weapons permit recognized by the Commonwealth of Virginia, and who are approved by LUPD to carry a concealed weapon, may possess and carry such concealed

- weapon on University property and all University facilities except residence halls, and may store the approved weapon in a secured container or compartment in their vehicle while on University property. Except as permitted in Section 3 C, no weapons may be stored in residence halls. The approved weapon shall never be openly carried except while necessary for its lawful use.
- E. Visitors to the University who are not faculty, staff or students of the University, and who hold a valid concealed weapons permit recognized by the Commonwealth of Virginia, may possess and carry such concealed weapon on University property and in University facilities, and may store the approved weapon in a secured container or compartment in their vehicle while on University property. The approved weapon shall never be openly carried except while necessary for its lawful use.

Section 4. Persons Prohibited from Authorization to Carry Weapon

- A. LUPD shall revoke approval and not approve or permit any person to possess, store, or carry a weapon or concealed weapon on University property who:
 - (1) Does not comply with this policy;
 - (2) Is on probation for violation of any academic or honor code, or of the Liberty Way, or the Liberty University Student Honor Code;
 - (3) Has been arrested for or charged with any assault, battery, stalking, crime of violence, or a felony, and has such case pending;
 - (4) Has been convicted of assault, battery, stalking, any crime of violence, or a felony;
 - (5) is restricted or restrained from contacting or communicating with another person pursuant to a no-contact directive or restraining order from the University or from any court or agency; or
 - (6) Is disapproved by the University or LUPD for any other reason.
- B. Written Requests Regarding Another's Carry Privilege:
 - (1) Any University student, faculty or staff may submit a written request to LUPD requesting that LUPD not approve or permit another person to carry a concealed weapon on University property.
 - (2) For good cause, LUPD shall deny approval of such person to carry a concealed weapon on University property, or shall restrict or revoke prior approval to carry a concealed weapon on University property.
 - (3) In such cases, final determination of whether to approve, restrict or revoke a person's privilege to carry a concealed weapon on University property shall be made by LUPD.

Section 5. Procedure to Approve Persons to Carry Weapon

- A. To obtain permission to possess, store, or carry a concealed weapon pursuant to this policy, a person must submit a complete application to LUPD to carry a concealed weapon on University property and be approved prior to bringing a weapon upon University property.
- B. To complete the application, the person must:
 - (1) Contact LUPD by phone, email, or in person at the LUPD office (contact information as follows: (434) 592-7641, LUPD@liberty.edu, 1971 University Blvd, Green Hall,

- Terrace Level Suite 700) to request an application, which shall be delivered by LUPD as soon as practicable;
- (2) Provide LUPD with a copy of the person's valid concealed weapons permit that is recognized by the Commonwealth of Virginia;
- (3) Provide the person's name, date of birth, current residential address, phone, email and, if applicable, proof of current faculty, staff, or student status; and
- (4) Provide the make, model, and caliber of the concealed weapon the person desires to carry, its serial number, if any, and any other distinguishing information about the concealed weapon that will enable LUPD to its match it to the applicant.
- C. Within 15 business days of submitting a complete application, LUPD shall provide the person with a written response indicating whether the person is authorized to carry a concealed weapon or not, and if not, stating the reason(s) for denial. LUPD's authorization to carry a concealed weapon may not extend beyond the expiration date of the applicant's concealed weapons permit.
- D. LUPD shall keep its records regarding applications and approvals of weapons permits confidential from all third parties, except Liberty University officials and as required by law or court order.
- E. Each person authorized by LUPD to carry a weapon under this policy shall, while on University property and in possession of a weapon, keep a copy of LUPD's written response authorizing them to carry their weapon, and shall produce such written authorization immediately upon demand by any law enforcement officer or other Liberty University official.
- F. LUPD shall post on its website this weapons policy in its entirety.

Section 6. Penalty for Violation of Weapons Policy

Any person found to violate a provision of Sections 2, 3, 4 or 5 of this policy will be subject to all appropriate penalties under University policy and applicable law. The University students who violate the above provisions of this policy may be subject to 30 misconduct points (and also a \$500.00 fine, 30 hours Disciplinary Community Service, & possible Administrative Withdrawal), or to such other penalties as may be prescribed in the Liberty University Student Honor Code for such misconduct.

Section 7. Storage of Weapons with LUPD

- A. Any University faculty, staff, or student who desires to store a weapon(s) with LUPD may, upon approval by LUPD, bring the weapon(s), unloaded, onto University property for storage with LUPD, using the procedure below.
- B. To be approved by LUPD for weapon storage, each person who desires to store a weapon with LUPD shall complete an application with LUPD indicating:
 - (1) the person's name, date of birth, current residential address (including dorm and room number, if applicable), phone, email and proof of current faculty, staff or student status;
 - (2) the make and model of any weapon, its serial number, if any, and the caliber of any firearm or air gun, and any other distinguishing information about the weapon that will enable LUPD to positively match the weapon to the applicant; and

- (3) the amount and caliber of any ammunition or projectiles.
- C. For good cause, LUPD may not approve a storage application and shall inform the applicant of the decision and the reason(s) for it.
- D. Upon approval of a storage application, LUPD shall:
 - (1) authorize the applicant to bring the approved weapon(s) in a vehicle to the LUPD office, and
 - (2) provide an escort to the person to bring the weapon(s) from the vehicle to the LUPD office.
- E. To protect the property rights of each person in his or her weapon(s), LUPD shall ensure that all weapons in its custody remain secure and unhandled, unless absolutely necessary for storage, retrieval, or storage rearrangement purposes.
- F. Within the designated hours for weapon check-out, LUPD shall retrieve and produce to the owner the requested weapon(s) upon the owner's request, presentation of valid photo identification, and the owner's completion of a check-out form which details the check-out time of the weapon(s), where the weapon(s) will be used and for what lawful purpose, and when the weapon(s) will be checked-in. LUPD shall provide the person with a receipt showing all the above check-out information.
- G. If LUPD has reason to believe return of the weapon(s) upon request poses a danger to the safety of the weapon owner and/or others, LUPD may delay or reasonably condition release of the weapon(s).
- H. LUPD shall keep records of every such transaction, and shall adopt measures to ensure the timely check-in of all weapons.
- I. Persons who are approved to store weapons with LUPD shall immediately upon entry upon University property, bring the weapon to the LUPD office in a vehicle. The weapons may not be brought from the vehicle to the LUPD office without an escort provided by LUPD.

Section 8. Penalties for Violation of Weapons Storage Procedures

Any person who violates a provision of Section 7 of this policy will be subject to all appropriate penalties under Liberty University policy and applicable law.

7.5 SAFETY

The ability to have and maintain a safe work environment is the result of all employees having an optimistic outlook toward their job, taking ownership and accountability for working safely, learning to identify risk, and clearly communicating the controls established to reduce or eliminate risk. This creates the safe working conditions expected for all employees and creates a safety culture where the LU community can thrive.

Accident prevention and efficient production go hand in hand. For this reason, it is important that all employees follow common-sense safety practices, participate in safety training courses applicable to the tasks they perform in their position, and have a genuine desire to protect themselves and others. Employees must report any unsafe working conditions or defective equipment to their supervisor. Report all injuries, no matter how small, to employee's direct supervision and human resources.

The University complies with all regulations and codes under OSHA and other prevailing safety requirements pertaining to the operations of our business. All employees need familiarity with and strictly abide by all OSHA standards and other codes and regulations pertaining to their specific job responsibilities.

Violation of these rules can lead to disciplinary action, up to and including termination. More importantly, failure to follow safety rules and guidelines can result in significant injury to employees and customers.

Emergency Evacuation Policy: In the event of a fire or other life-threatening emergency, ALL employees shall cease all activity and clear the building(s) by the nearest exit. Employees should familiarize themselves with the most direct route(s) and other safety features of individual work sites. Employees are to physically participate in all emergency notification/fire drills.

7.6 SECURITY INSPECTIONS

The University wishes to maintain a work environment that is free of illegal drugs, alcohol, firearms, explosives, or other improper materials. To this end, the University prohibits the possession, transfer, sale, or use of such materials on its premises. The University requires the cooperation of all employees in administering this policy.

Desks, lockers, and other storage devices may be provided for the convenience of employees but remain the sole property of the University. Accordingly, any agent or representative of the University can inspect them, as well as any articles found within them, at any time, either with or without prior notice.

An employee's consent to such searches is required as a condition of becoming and remaining an employee of the University. An employee's refusal to consent to any such search will result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination, even for a first refusal.

7.7 TRAVEL AND ENTERTAINMENT

Employees should refer to the Travel, Meals, and Entertainment Policies and Procedures manual residing on the Procurement Travel Office accessible via <u>this link.</u>

The responsibility to observe these guidelines rests with the person traveling, entertaining, or incurring meal expenses on behalf of Liberty University, budget manager, department head, and Division Leader who certifies conformance to these guidelines by approving expenditures. Faculty, staff, and others acting on behalf of the University are expected to be knowledgeable of both University and departmental policies and procedures that govern their travel, and non-travel business expenses. While every guideline may not be stipulated within this document, it is the responsibility of the employee or nonemployee to incur only ordinary and necessary travel and business expenses in the conduct of official University activities.

Any requests for exceptions to this policy must be approved by the traveler's Division Leader (VP/Dean) and submitted in writing to the Procurement Travel Office prior to travel.

Departmental policies apply only to the approval to travel and incur non-travel expenses and the assurance that the proper funds are available to cover the expenses.

7.8 VEHICLE SAFETY and APPROVED DRIVERS

Policy Purpose and Objectives

The primary purpose of this program is to provide for the protection and safety of human life.

A secondary objective is the protection of Liberty University ("the University") assets, and managing the direct and indirect costs associated with vehicle accidents, equipment damage and loss of use.

The third objective is to avoid unfavorable publicity that may arise from vehicle accidents, or the inappropriate use or operation of University vehicles.

Vehicle Policy Definitions

<u>University vehicle</u> defined: For the purpose of this program, "University vehicle" shall include any University-owned vehicle; any vehicle leased or rented in the name of Liberty University for University-related purposes; or any vehicle used by Liberty University personnel for conducting University business.

<u>University Approved Driver</u> defined: For the purpose of this program, "University Approved Driver" applies to University employees (including all volunteer drivers) who have satisfactorily met all requirements and who have been approved to operate a University vehicle. No employee will be permitted to drive on University business without being designated as a University Approved Driver.

To be a University Approved Driver, employees must have valid drivers' licenses for the class or type vehicle operated and who have completed the approval process, and must be at least 21 years of age. This includes standard state-issued drivers' licenses for private passenger vehicles, and Commercial Drivers Licenses for larger vehicles

- with appropriate endorsements as applicable. As part of the verification process, employees seeking approval to operate University vehicles or drive their personal vehicles for business purposes must have a current valid drivers' license. Furthermore, University employees residing in Virginia and seeking initial approval must submit a copy of their Motor Vehicle Report (MVR), which can be obtained at any Virginia Department of Motor Vehicles office, or online via this link.

This report must be submitted to Transportation through the APEX portal within 10 days of issue.

Employees with drivers' licenses from other states should obtain a Motor Vehicle Report from their issuing state's DMV, RMV, etc. Links to the individual state agencies can be found via this link.

Employees with foreign (non-USA) drivers' licenses should comply with the licensure requirements developed by the U.S. Department of State.

<u>Driver Screening/Eligibility Requirements</u>: To complete the approval process, the University requires that University Approved Drivers maintain a satisfactory driving history, as documented by the employee's Motor Vehicle Report (MVR). The enclosed evaluation criteria will generally be used to determine the approval of all University drivers. Following the initial approval, maintenance of the Approved Driver designation is required, with validation through a periodic MVR.

Process for Becoming an Approved Driver: Online process can be found via this link.

Liberty University's Vehicle Operational Requirements

It is important that each driver, while using any University vehicle or while using his or her personal vehicle for business purposes:

- * Keep safety above expediency at all times, while ensuring the safety of the driver, vehicle passengers and the public.
- Comply with all traffic laws and regulations including, but not limited to, proper licensure to operate the appropriate class of motor vehicle; maintaining vehicle speeds at or below the posted speed limits; adhering to all traffic control devices (stoplights, stop signs, etc.).
- Operate the vehicle in a defensive manner to prevent accidents, despite the actions of others or adverse driving conditions (weather, road condition, etc.). In short, exhibit defensive driving practices at all times.

General Vehicle Usage:

For routine business usage, Liberty University requires the use of University-owned vehicles; or, while traveling for University-related purposes rented or leased vehicles from University-approved vehicle leasing companies or organizations. The use of personal vehicles for University-related purposes should be minimized.

University-owned or leased vehicles are only to be used for approved Liberty University activities. No other use of University vehicles is permitted unless there is specific written permission obtained from the University's officials and Human Resources. No personal use of University vehicles is permitted - unless there is specific permission obtained from the University's administration. Personal use of a University-owned vehicle is considered a taxable benefit to the employee under IRS regulations.

University-owned or leased vehicles are only to be operated by University-employed drivers who are listed as <u>University-Approved Drivers</u> in a current status. To obtain approval, the employee's supervisor must add the employee into the Driver Portal and the employee must successfully meet all requirements for approval.

To further assure that University vehicles are operated in a safe and efficient manner, the University may require periodic driver training to help foster safe and defensive driving practices. These training sessions may be individual, on-line training modules to be completed within a pre-established timeframe; or group-training activities organized within departments with large numbers of drivers or vehicles. Training activities will be tracked and evaluated accordingly; plus there may be additional training needs identified that are based on the employee's accident experience, reports of unsafe vehicle operations, or other factors such as Department of Transportation (DOT) regulations, that may warrant the need for additional training or supervision. If caught using a cell phone while driving a University vehicle, you will be required to complete additional online courses and complete an in-classroom course.

No spouses or family members may operate any University-owned or leased vehicle, unless specific approval is obtained in writing from appropriate University officials.

Absolutely no unauthorized drivers are allowed to operate any University-owned or leased vehicle, or operate a personal vehicle for business use.

No unauthorized vehicle occupants are allowed in University vehicles, unless specifically authorized beforehand. This includes friends who are not University employees/students. No hitchhikers are allowed at any time.

There shall be no unauthorized use of University vehicles. This includes unauthorized towing, unauthorized hauling of non-University material or property, using University vehicles on non-public or off-road roadways (unless as part of designated work duties), etc. Unless specifically allowed, University vehicles should not be used for transporting canoes, kayaks, bicycles, etc.; and non- standard racks or carrying devices should not be attached to University vehicles.

No use of University vehicles (or personal vehicles while being operated on University business) is permitted while the driver is under the influence of drugs or alcohol. This includes illegal substances, doctor prescribed medications, and over-the-counter medications for pain or illnesses that may affect a driver's perception and/or ability to safely operate motor vehicles. All drivers should read and follow the warnings listed on any medications they may be taking. All employees operating vehicles for business purposes are required to notify their supervisor if they are using such medication. All employees are required to strictly adhere to the University's policies on prohibited drug and alcohol use, which also addresses prescription drugs that may interfere with the employee's driving ability or performance of normal duties.

No use of University vehicles (or use of personal vehicles while being operated on University business) is permitted while the driver is actively using electronic communication devices, or engaged in any activity that could result in the driver being distracted. The driver's use of cell phones, text messaging devices, laptop computers, etc. is strictly prohibited while operating any vehicle. Bluetooth and handsfree devices are acceptable while driving a university or personal vehicle. However, any department policy or procedures that define a more strict use of electronic equipment could result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

Employees driving non-owned University vehicles (personal vehicle) for University business must be insured and have evidence of current personal auto liability insurance coverage at no less than the minimum insurance coverage required under law.

Drivers must be a University Approved Driver to claim mileage. Pre-trip photos of conditions and/or damage, and odometer readings must be documented. Photos of any incident, police report and odometer readings are essential components of documentation. Post Trip photos of the new damage and ending odometer reading will further document evidence for your claim. Any incidents must be reported to local police, immediate supervisor, LUPD, HR and Risk Management for proper processing and claims.

Parking of University vehicles should always be in safe and appropriate locations. Consideration should be given to driver/occupant safety, especially when parking University vehicles on the street in areas that may be subject to crime. The vehicle's driver is responsible for paying parking fees (which are subject to re-imbursement when associated with conducting University business); but the University is not responsible for any parking tickets or towing charges associated with improper parking.

Driver/Occupant Responsibilities:

- Safety in University vehicles, golf carts and personal business-use vehicles is a responsibility that is shared among drivers, passengers and the University.
- ➤ Defensive Driving The driver must defensively operate the vehicle at all times in such a manner as to prevent collisions in spite of the actions of others or the presence of adverse driving conditions.
- Decisive Driving The driver must make the correct and appropriate decision at the proper time so as not to confuse others.
- ➤ Dependable Driving The driver must be consistent in driving behaviors, making the correct decisions and applying the appropriate defenses to the situations encountered.
- The use of safety belts is required at all times by all drivers and all vehicle occupants. "It's the Law" buckle up, passengers included! The driver is not to move the vehicle until all passengers are properly buckled up.
- Deep all traffic laws and regulations. The driver is responsible for all fines arising from moving violations and parking infractions. In addition, moving vehicle violations may affect the driver's approval status and ultimately may affect his or her employment status.
- Report any mechanical issue of a University-owned vehicle to the appropriate authority and/or to Liberty University's Transportation Department. Never operate a vehicle known or thought to be unsafe.
- Maintain a safety consciousness for all occupants of the vehicle, and the public at large. Always Proprietary Property of Liberty University® Page 110

be aware of pedestrians on foot, skateboards, scooters, and pedestrians even if they are crossing your path inappropriately	y.
etary Property of Liberty University®	Page 11

- Deserve common courtesy toward other drivers and the public, and maintain a courteous attitude at all times. Your behavior as a driver reflects on both you and the University.
- > Check to see that all items and personal belongings are secured in the vehicle while the vehicle is in motion, and that all personal belongings (and any trash) are removed from University vehicles at the end of the trip. Liberty University assumes no responsibility for personal items left in vehicles.
- All non-assigned University-owned vehicles must be returned in the same condition (or better) from which the vehicles were obtained. Fuel levels should be replenished, trash removed, etc.
- Each driver should conduct a visual inspection of his or her assigned vehicle on a daily basis. Items to specifically check before proceeding include the vehicle's braking system and steering mechanism, tire conditions and the operation of headlights, turn signals and windshield wipers. More detailed inspections, including checking lubricating oils and fluids, tire inflation, etc., should be performed at routine intervals.
- For Generally speaking, the driver is responsible for any damage that occurs when the University-owned or leased vehicle is in his or her possession. When obtaining a vehicle, whether it is University owned or leased, the driver should always inspect the vehicle for any pre-existing, or post-trip damage including paint and exterior damage, cracked glass, etc. Any damage should be duly noted before the vehicle is driven away.
- Smoking is not permitted in any University-owned vehicle.
- University-owned and assigned vehicles should be maintained in a clean condition, both inside and out. No non-approved decals, stickers or other materials should be visible in Universityowned or assigned vehicles without prior management approval.
- Privers must immediately notify their supervisor and the Human Resources Department if they receive any moving vehicle citation while operating a University-owned or leased vehicle; or if they receive a moving vehicle citation in their personal vehicle that may impact their ability to legally operate any vehicle. Any convictions of moving vehicle violations and any suspensions of driving privileges should also be reported immediately. Failure to report moving vehicle citations and/or license suspensions may result in removal as an approved driver of University vehicles, and could lead to disciplinary actions, up to and including termination of employment.

Vehicle Accidents or Other Mishaps:

Any accident, collision or mishap involving a University-owned or leased vehicle or personal vehicle while being used for University business must be promptly reported. In the event of an accident:

- ✓ First, check to see if everyone is Okay. Obtain medical assistance if needed.
- ✓ For all vehicle-related incidents occurring on campus, contact the Liberty University Police Department. For emergency situations, call (434)592-3911; or, for non-emergency situations, call (434) 592-7641.

- ✓ For vehicle-related incidents occurring off-campus, notify local law enforcement if there is any possibility of personal injuries, any damages to non-University vehicles, or if physical damages to the University vehicle can be expected to exceed \$500. Any employee that has any incident resulting in property or physical damage, must obtain a local police report, and must report the incident to LUPD, Risk Management, and Human Resources immediately. In most localities dialing 911 is usually appropriate following any incident where personal injuries may be present or vehicles are not operable. Local law enforcement agencies may not respond to all incidents (especially minor incidents and/or incidents that do not occur on public roadways), but notification should still be made and documented. If the incident occurred on private property, take notes or photos of the scene and if applicable, move the vehicle out of harm's way to gather additional information. If the incident occurred in your personal vehicle, exchange your personal insurance information with law enforcement
- ✓ Gather appropriate information, including date/time of the incident, who or what was involved (including information on the other vehicle and/or its driver if another vehicle was involved), weather or lighting conditions, and names, address and phone numbers of any witnesses. Note the names of the passengers in your vehicle and the number of occupants in the other vehicle (and obtain their names and ages if possible).
- ✓ Fully cooperate with police and other officials immediately following an accident or during the initial accident report; however, when driving a University-owned vehicle or while conducting University business avoid offering any opinion as to fault or admission of guilt to police, officials, or other persons involved in the accident as a participant or witness. If pressed, simply say that the matter will be turned over to the University and its insurance company.
- ✓ As soon as practical, notify your immediate supervisor and the University's Insert correct parties. If possible, call from the scene of the incident as someone from the University may be able to come to the scene to assist. Complete an Accident Report within 24 hours of the incident. The Liberty University Police Department or Human Resources will provide the necessary form(s) for completion.
- ✓ All vehicle-related incidents must be reported to the University's Police Department by calling (434) 592-7641, even if there are no apparent injuries and/or damages are perceived to be insignificant. This includes all incidents involving a personal vehicle while being operated for University business.

Components of Approved Driver Qualifications

Any prospective driver operating a vehicle for University business must have a valid Driver's License with the proper class and endorsements for the type of vehicle to be operated.

The prospective driver should be 21 years or older. No students should operate University-owned vehicles; or, if they are allowed to operate a University vehicle, the supervisor will provide written approval (and the student must possess a valid driver's license and meet the other approval criteria). If you are an international student or missionary returning from the field, a 7-year driving record must be produced for approval.

Determination of University Approved Drivers, from Reviewing the prospective
University Driver's
Motor Vehicle Report (MVR)

MAJOR VIOLATIONS

Convictions for:

- Negligent Vehicular Homicide
- Vehicular Manslaughter
- Felony Hit and Run
- Drag racing
- Driving Under Influence within the last 5 years
- Reckless or Careless Driving within the last 5 years
- Assault involving a motor vehicle

OTHER MOVING VEHICLE VIOLATIONS

Convictions for:

- Passing a stopped school bus
- Moving Violations:

☐ Speeding
☐ Improper or excessive lane
changes
☐ Following vehicle ahead too
closely
☐ At fault accidents
☐ Running a red light or stop sign
☐ Failure to yield

☐ Other violations resulting from an

at-fault accident(s)

UNACCEPTABLE

- One or more Major Violation within the last 5 years
- Three (3) or more moving violations within the last 40 months
- One at-fault accident, and one or more moving violations within the last 3 years not involving the same incident
- Two (2) or more at-fault accidents within the past 3 years

ACCEPTABLE

• The driver has minor violations but the violations do not meet UNACCEPTABLE criteria

CLEAN (ACCEPTABLE)

• No violations listed on the MVR for the past 5 Years

Not-at-fault accidents, failure to wear seat belts and improper equipment are not generally considered barring violations; however, the employee may still be deemed unacceptable at the sole discretion of the University.

Violations for non approval of driving may need to be the same ones denied for applicants applying for a job where they may be driving for the university.

Personal Liability

The University-owned vehicle's specified department may be charged \$1,500 if there was no driver error. The University-owned vehicle's specified department may be charged the full amount of the vehicle repairs if:

- a) Any at-fault accident or collision, in which the driver was charged and convicted of a moving vehicle offense.
- b) If the driver was irresponsible in any incident involving a University-owned vehicle or if the incident or mishap was judged to be preventable from the University driver's perspective, using the National Safety Council's guidelines on determining the preventability of motor vehicle collisions.

Personal vehicles driven for University business follow the terms and conditions of the driver's personal insurance policy as underwritten, and all deductible fees or other financial obligations are the sole responsibility of the driver.

In addition, driver negligence or violations of this vehicle policy, as determined by the University, may result in removal from the Approved Driver List and may result in disciplinary actions, up to and including termination of employment.

Policy Revised: March 2023

Liberty University Vehicle Safety Policy Liberty University Approved Drivers Acknowledgement

I hereby acknowledge receipt of the Liberty University Vehicle Safety Policy.

I also certify that I have had an opportunity to read and become familiar with the terms and conditions of this Policy and agree to abide by the Policy as set forth. I understand and agree that the University reserves the right to amend, alter or abolish any or all of the terms of this Policy as circumstances warrant with or without advance notice, and as prescribed by law.

I understand that this Policy now replaces and supersedes any previous verbal or written policies, understandings or agreements concerning the Liberty University Vehicle Safety Policy and conditions therein.

Nothing in this Policy or Policy Acknowledgement is intended to set forth either expressed or implied contractual obligations of the University. I understand that I am an employee at-will with Liberty University; and as such, that we each remain free to terminate the employment relationship with or without advance notice for any reason or for no reason at all.

I understand this policy will be used in conjunction with any other policies or regulations specific to the performance of my job, if any. These include, but are not limited to regulations under the Department of Transportation (DOT), Departmental Standard Operating Procedures, and job descriptions.

Approved Driver's Signature:	Date:
Approved Driver's Name (Printed):	

7.9	TRAFFIC AND PARKING REGULATIONS
All employees of the University are expected to familiarize themselves with and abide by the parking and traffic regulations of the University. LU Traffic and Parking Regulations are available here .	

7.10 SUICIDE PREVENTION PROCEDURE

If a staff, faculty, or administration member comes into contact with anyone who is in crisis or is experiencing suicidal thoughts and is requesting immediate counseling, the following steps will be taken:

- The faculty, staff or administration member will contact the LUPD immediately (434-582-3911 or 434-592-3911), stating they have a student in crisis who is requesting immediate counseling.
- The Dean of Students Office will contact the Student Counseling Services on call representative at 434-841-2272.
- In the event that a Student Counseling Representative is unavailable, LUPD will transport or contact ambulance service for transport to Lynchburg General Hospital.

Note: This expense will be covered by the student's insurance or by the student.

7.11 CHILD ABUSE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

The Virginia Legislature has extended reporting requirements, effective July 1, 2012, mandating that every employee of a public or private institution of higher education who, in his or her employment capacity, has reason to suspect that a child (under the age of 18) is an abused or neglected child, has a responsibility under law and must report the suspected child abuse or neglect within 24 hours. This report must be made to the local city or county Social Services office where the child resides, where the abuse or neglect is believed to have occurred, or to the Virginia Department of Social Services toll-free child abuse and neglect hotline (800) 552-7096.

If any employee of Liberty University fails to report suspected abuse within 24 hours, he or she may be criminally charged with failure to report such abuse or neglect and the employee may have to pay a fine of \$500 for the first offense and no less than \$1,000 for the second failure to report. If the child abuse involves certain types of sexual abuse, the employee who knowingly and intentionally fails to make the required report shall be guilty of a Class 1 Misdemeanor. The law provides that no mandatory reporter, which includes all LU employees, shall be required to make a report if the employee has actual knowledge that the same matter has already been reported to the local Social Services office or via the toll-free child abuse and neglect hotline.

The University strictly complies with the letter of the law as well as the spirit of the law. This policy applies to all LU employees. We have adopted the following employee policy in this regard:

Employee Mandatory Reporting Requirements for Child Abuse and Neglect

The University strictly abides with the reporting requirements as mandated under Virginia Code 63.2-1509. All employees are required to report any suspected child abuse or neglect of any child under the age of 18 that they have knowledge of through their employment capacity regardless of the nature of the abuse or neglect, the identity of the suspected perpetrator of the abuse or neglect, or the location in which the suspected abuse or neglect occurred.

Any employee who, in his or her employment capacity, has reason to believe or reasonably suspects child abuse or neglect has occurred in association with any LU affiliated person, property, business or activity, should inform University authorities as soon as possible.

- In order to file a report, contact the Liberty University Police Department (LUPD) by calling (434) 592-7641; no later than 12 hours after first suspecting abuse or neglect so that the University can respond within the 24 hour requirement. LUPD will investigate the report and file the report with the Department of Social Services as required.
- In the event any employee witnesses any form of child abuse as outlined above, notify any Liberty University police officer by calling (434) 592-7641 immediately.
- If an employee has reported suspected abuse or neglect to LUPD and has not received confirmation that the matter was reported to the local or state Social Services before the 24- hour mandatory deadline has expired, the employee must report the abuse or neglect directly to Social Services by the reporting deadline required by law. Immediately following a direct report to Social Services, the employee must notify LUPD and provide details of when the report was originally made, who received the report and any communications resulting from the report.

No employee will suffer any retaliation or adverse employment action based on filing a good faith report or for participating in any investigation of suspected child abuse or neglect. Any employee who intentionally fails to timely report suspected child abuse or neglect or fails to timely report child abuse or neglect that the employee should reasonably have suspected, the employee will be subject to discipline up to and including termination and may also be subject to criminal charges.

7.12 SMOKING

The University campus and all properties and facilities are no-smoking zones. Tobacco use such as smoking, smokeless tobacco, and vapor cigarette devices, are strictly prohibited in any University facility located on any University property, University vehicle or equipment.

7.13 VISITORS IN THE WORKPLACE

To provide for the safety and security of employees and the facilities at the University, only authorized visitors are allowed in the workplace. Restricting unauthorized visitors helps maintain safety standards, protects against theft, ensures security of equipment, protects confidential information, safeguards employee welfare, and avoids potential distractions and disturbances.

Because of safety and security reasons, family and friends of employees are discouraged from visiting. Employees are expected to get approval regarding any potential visitors from their supervision. Employees are responsible for the conduct and safety of their visitors.

If an unauthorized individual is observed on the University's premises, employees should immediately contact LUPD at (434) 592-7641.

CHILDREN IN THE WORKPLACE

It is the desire of the administration of the University to maintain a proper standard of professional office etiquette during the business day as well as minimize the responsibility of the University in regard to potential injuries children may incur while visiting the office of a family member.

Consequently, employees will not be permitted to bring their children to their workplace.

PETS

Due to safety reasons, personal pets of any kind are prohibited on all campus properties during the employee's hours of work, unless prior approval from Human Resources has been received based on a pet's documented service animal status.

Employees who reside on campus (Resident Assistants and Resident Directors) should comply with their department's current policy in regard to personal pets.

SERVICE ANIMALS

A service animal is defined under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) as any dog that is individually trained to do work or perform tasks for the benefit of an individual with a disability, including a physical, sensory, psychiatric, intellectual, or other mental disability. To receive approval to bring a service animal in the workplace, the University reserves the right to request documentation to establish the existence of an employee's disability and to directly show how the animal helps the individual perform his or her job.

An ADA accommodation can be requested by emailing benefits@liberty.edu.

EMOTIONAL SUPPORT ANIMALS

Emotional support animals, comfort animals, and therapy dogs are not classified as service animals under Title II and Title III of the ADA, and therefore will not be permitted in the workplace.

7.14 USE OF UNIVERSITY PHONES, FAX, SCANNERS AND MAIL

The University recognizes that employees must sometimes place or receive personal calls on workplace telephones. However, the telephone system is intended primarily to serve the needs of the business, and it is essential that personal use does not interfere with that purpose. The University reserves the right to monitor the telephone system and may periodically review the general use of each extension. Certain equipment may be recorded, and recordings remain the property of the University. Employees should minimize the number of personal communications and schedule accordingly so as not to interfere with the performance of their duties.

Facsimile, Scanners, and Printers: Employees should minimize their use of workplace equipment for personal purposes. Personal usage can impede the normal flow of business, incur unnecessary expense, and reduce productivity.

Postage, shipping, and mail services: These systems are for business use only. Employees are prohibited from utilizing for personal use.

Cell phones: Employees should use good judgment with the amount of time spent on outside personal communications of any nature (including texting) during working hours, keeping personal use to a minimum in order to avoid interruptions that can affect individual performance, affect safety and business, or create a poor image. Employees with University cell phones should follow all requirements as dictated by the department and job function.

No packages or mail should be sent to the University's premises. However, if any arrive, they are subject to the same treatment as all other University mail and packages and carry no right of privacy.

7.15 RETURN OF PROPERTY

Employees are responsible for the safekeeping of all University property in their possession or control, and as assigned to them, including but not limited to: all keys, badges, p-cards, uniforms, equipment, materials and written information. On or before the employee's last day of work, the employee is required to return all property. Remote employees will be expected to return all University equipment that was issued to them at the time of hire. The University reserves the right to take any legal actions, including reimbursement of attorney's fees, as allowed to them under law to recover or protect its property.

7.16 LOST AND FOUND

The Lost and Found Office is coordinated by the Liberty University Police Department (LUPD) and located in the DeMoss Building and LUPD (Green Hall, Suite 700). All employees are expected to utilize this office in the event they find a lost article.

LUPD's normal office hours are 7:30 AM – 4:30 PM, Monday through Friday. To contact LUPD outside these hours contact (434) 592-7641.

Section 8: BENEFITS

8.1 GENERAL INFORMATION

All benefits are available to employees who are classified as benefitted full-time, regular employees working a normal workweek of no less than 40 hours. A list of these benefits can be found on the Human Resources website. Employees should access this site for additional information.

All employees working a normal workweek of no less than 30 hours are eligible to participate in the health care insurance programs of the University. Employees should access the Human Resources website at liberty.edu/human-resources for additional enrollment information.

All employees working a normal workweek of 20 hours or more are eligible for non-matching participation in the 403(b) plan if they meet the criteria of the plan. Employees should access the Human Resources website for additional enrollment information. Students are not eligible for participation in the university's retirement plans.

New Hires:

Coverage for the benefits is generally effective the first day following 60 days of full-time active service, or as otherwise stated. Employees must complete the online enrollment in Workday within 45 days of hire to be covered. If an employee does not elect benefits when first eligible, the University will enroll the employee in basic life, short-term and long-term disability insurance. He or she must wait until the next open enrollment period to enroll or make changes to their benefit elections, unless he or she experiences a change in family status or other qualifying event as defined by the IRS. Also, waiving their initial offer of insurance may seriously affect the level of coverage, and/or may require evidence of insurability.

Open Enrollment:

Employees will have the opportunity to review and make changes to benefit elections each year at open enrollment. Coverage for the benefits is effective July 1, of the current year and in some cases replaces insurance provided previously.

If an employee waives coverage or does not make an election by the required due date, the employee will not be eligible until the next enrollment period unless he or she experiences a change in family status or other qualifying events as defined by the IRS. Also, waiving voluntary election of insurance may seriously affect the level of coverage, and/or may require evidence of insurability.

When employees can make changes after initial offering at hire or annual enrollment:

In general, you may only add or remove coverage if you experience a change in family status which includes the following:

- Marriage or divorce
- Birth, adoption, or change in custody of a child
- Death of a spouse or child
- Change of employment status
- Change of spouse's employment status or involuntary loss of insurance coverage

If an employee qualifies under any of the above exceptions, the employee is required to apply for coverage changes within 30 days of the effective date of the eligible status change, 90 days for the birth of a child. Any plan changes the employee makes must be consistent with the change in family status. (For example, if an employee marries, changing health coverage from Employee Only to Employee and Spouse, the employee cannot move from the original elected health plan to another.)

Enrolling in Benefits:

To enroll in benefits, visit the Benefits page here.

The University reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to amend, modify, alter, suspend, or terminate in whole or in part any benefits offered, other than as may be required by law.

PREMIUM CONVERSION PLAN:

The University offers a Section 125 Premium Conversion Plan which allows employees to pay for health, dental and other premiums with pre-tax dollars. Applicable premiums, if any, will be automatically applied.

Education Benefits:

The University provides education benefits in the form of Continuing Education (CE) and Dependent Grant In-Aid (DGIA) for full-time benefitted employees, their spouses and un-married children under the age of 27. Further information about CE and DGIA can be found on the Human Resources website under the Benefits section.

8.2 HIPAA PRIVACY POLICY

The University complies with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). The University does not normally disclose any medical information collected in the course of administering employment policy to any third party without the employee's signed authorization of release, with the exception of certain state or federal agency requirements under law.

The University does not typically collect or store any health information pertaining to employees with the exception of those positions requiring physicals for eligibility certifications/licensing to perform certain duties for the University, or medical information collected by the University in the course of performing duties associated with providing worker's compensation, leaves under FMLA, ADA, or other extended medical condition leaves. This information is not stored with the employee's personnel file but is stored separately in a contained and locked area.

8.3 BENEFITS CONTINUATION (COBRA)

The federal Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) gives employees and their qualified beneficiaries the opportunity to continue health insurance coverage under the University's health plan when a "qualifying event" would normally result in the loss of eligibility. Some common qualifying events are resignation, termination of employment, or death of an employee; a reduction in an employee's hours or a leave of absence; an employee's divorce or legal separation; and a dependent child no longer meeting eligibility requirements.

Under COBRA, the employee or beneficiary pays the full cost of coverage at Liberty University's group rates plus an administration fee.

The University provides each eligible employee with a written notice in the Health Plan Document describing rights granted under COBRA when the employee becomes eligible for coverage under the University's health insurance plan. The notice contains important information about the employee's rights and obligations. Employees will be given formal notice of their federally mandated COBRA rights upon occurrence of a qualifying event.

8.4 WORKERS' COMPENSATION INSURANCE

The University provides a comprehensive workers' compensation insurance program at no cost to its employees. This program covers any injury or illness sustained in the course of employment that requires medical, surgical, or hospital treatment. Subject to applicable legal requirements, workers' compensation insurance provides benefits after a short waiting period or, if the employee is hospitalized, immediately.

Employees who sustain work-related injuries or illnesses should inform their supervisor and the Human Resources Office immediately. No matter how minor an on-the-job injury may appear, it is important that it be reported immediately. This will enable an eligible employee to qualify for coverage as quickly as possible.

Neither the University nor the insurance carrier will be liable for the payment of workers' compensation benefits for injuries that occur during an employee's voluntary participation in any off-duty recreational, social, or athletic activity sponsored by Liberty University.

For more information, please visit https://www.liberty.edu/human-resources/benefits/workers-compensation/

8.5 EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM (EAP)

Liberty University provides employees with an Employee Assistance Program (EAP) through the Hartford Insurance Company, at no cost to the employee. The program is designed to improve your well-being by helping you resolve a problem before it becomes too overwhelming or costly. Licensed clinicians and other professionals are always available to help you and your household members with the following:

- Marital/relationship or family problems
- Childcare and elder care resource assistance
- Financial concerns
- Alcohol and drug issues
- Depression and anxiety
- Legal concerns
- Feelings of overwhelming loss and grief
- Times of crisis

Employees may contact the Hartford Ability Assist (EAP) at (800) 964-3577, or visit this <u>link</u> for more information.

